2022 Final stage IA No: BEIS040(F)-21-EEL	Impact Assessment (IA)		
BBC Beference No: Not Applicable	Date: March 2022		
Lead department or agency: Department for Business, Energy	Stage: Final		
and Industrial Strategy	Source of intervention: Domestic		
Other departments or agencies:	Type of measure: Secondary legislation		
	Contact for enquiries: warmhomediscount@beis.gov.uk		
Summary Intervention and Ontiona	BPC Opinion: Not Applicable		

Summary: Intervention and Options

Cost of Preferred (or more likely) Option (in 2021 prices)									
Total Net Present Social Value	Business Net Present Value	Net cost to business per year	Business Impact Target Status						
Non-equity weighted: -£780m Equity Weighted: £880m	N/A	N/A	N/A						

What is the problem under consideration? Why is government action or intervention necessary?

Fuel Poverty is the problem faced by households living on a low income in a home which cannot be kept warm at reasonable cost. The Warm Home Discount (WHD), currently worth ~£350m a year, provides low income and vulnerable households with an energy bill rebate. In February 2021 Government announced its decision to extend the scheme for a further year, continuing to provide support to eligible households until March 2022. Government now plans to extend the WHD scheme until 2025/26 and reform the scheme, including changes to the eligibility criteria, so that it better targets fuel poor households and contributes to the delivery of the interim fuel poverty milestone in 2025.

What are the policy objectives of the action or intervention and the intended effects?

- The Energy White Paper (published December 2020) stated that Government will extend the WHD • from 2022 to 2025/26 and expand the total spending envelope. The scheme will provide energy bill rebates to approximately 3m customers at risk of fuel poverty per year and will contribute to the delivery of the interim fuel poverty milestone in 2025.
- Government is proposing to reform the scheme in England and Wales. In future, Government data • would be used to identify low-income households with high estimated energy costs and such households would automatically receive a rebate. This IA covers England and Wales only.
- The Government will consult on introducing a separate scheme in Scotland from 2022. •

What policy options have been considered, including any alternatives to regulation? Please justify preferred option (further details in Evidence Base)

- a. **Option 0 do nothing:** WHD scheme will end after 2021/22, removing energy bill support to low income and vulnerable households.
- b. Option 1 no reform: continue to distribute all rebates based on low-income criteria. This method achieves the lowest fuel poverty targeting rate with the current spending envelope (~39% of recipients are fuel poor).
- c. Option 2 reform: improves the fuel poverty targeting score to ~44% whilst protecting low-income pensioners who currently receive rebates and maintaining current spending.
- d. Option 3 (preferred option) reform with additional spending (£125m increase to the England & Wales spending envelope, adding £5 to bills): improves the fuel poverty targeting score to ~47%, providing rebates to an additional ~450k fuel poor households compared to option 2.

Will the policy be reviewed? It will not be reviewed. If applicable, set review date: N/A								
Is this measure likely to impact on international trade and investment? No								
Are any of these organisations in scope?	Micro Yes	SmallMediumYesYes			Large Yes			
What is the CO_2 equivalent change in greenhouse gas emissions? (Million tonnes CO_2 equivalent)		Traded: 0.5 MtCO	2e	Non-1	traded: MtCO2e			

I have read the Impact Assessment and I am satisfied that, given the available evidence, it represents a reasonable view of the likely costs, benefits and impact of the leading options.

Signed by the responsible Minister:

Matar Call

Date:

24/02/22

Summary: Analysis & Evidence for Policy Option 1 Description: No reform, continue with WHD scheme in its current form FULL ECONOMIC ASSESSMENT

Price Base	PV Ba	ase	Time Period	:	Ν	et Benef	it (Present Va	lue (PV)) (£m)						
2021	2021		4 years	Low	/: -	High:	-	Non-equity	weighted NPV:					
								-£560m Equity weig	hted: £220m					
								=quity iterg	2220					
COSTS (£m	1)	(Total Tran Constant Price)	sition Years	Average (excl. Tr	Annual ransition)			Total Cost (Present Value)					
Best Estimate	•						Non-equity w	eighted PV: -	1,780m					
							Equity weigh	ted PV: -2,390)m					
Description a	nd scal	e of ke	y monetised c	osts by	'main affect	ed group	s'							
 Suppliers raising price PV £1,870 	recoup ces. Thi m. This	the tota is is es s incluc	al value of the timated to lea les supplier a	eir oblig d to cos dminist	ation, plus a sts to consur rative costs (ny admir ners of F of PV £3	nistrative cost PV £1,260m, 7m.	s they incur, and after equ	through uity weighting,					
 Increased which lead 	income Is to ad	e for rel ditiona	oate recipient	s is exp sts of P	ected to lead V £220m.	d to a ne	t increase in	energy consi	umption,					
Those who	o do no	t receiv	ve the rebate	experie	ence a reduct	tion of in	come, which	leads to redu	iced energy					
consumpti	on. Lov	ver ene	ergy consump	tion red	duces utility b	by PV £7	m, and after	equity weight	ting, PV					
 The net ind 	crease	in ener	av consumpt	ion lead	ds to GHG ei	missions	costs of PV	£270m.						
• The net ind	crease	in ener	gy consumpt	ion lead	ds to air qual	ity costs	of PV £16m.							
 Administra 	tive co	sts to C	Government o	f PV £7	⁷ m.									
Other key nor	n-mone י	tised c	osts by 'main	affected	d groups'									
None identifie	ed													
BENEFITS	(£m)	(Total Tran Constant Price)	sition Years	Average (excl. Tr	Annual ransition)			Total Benefit (Present Value)					
Best Estimate	•						Non-equity w Equity weigh	eighted PV: £ ted PV: £2,62	21,220m 0m					
Description a	nd scal	e of ke	y monetised b	enefits	by 'main affe	Description and scale of key monetised benefits by 'main affected groups'								
 The main benefits of rebates and debt write-off delivered to eligible households are split between increases in income and comfort; PV £640m and PV £440m respectively, and after equity weighting, 														
 The main increases PV £1 46 	i benefi s in inco 0m and	its of re ome an א PV ר	bates and de d comfort; P\ 1 010m respe	bt write / £640r	-off delivered n and PV £4	d to eligit 40m res	ble household pectively, and	ds are split be d after equity	etween weighting,					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted 	benefi in inco 0m and on of th to refle	its of re ome an d PV £ ie reba	bates and de d comfort; P\ 1,010m respe te spent on ei preater value	bt write / £640r ctively. nergy c of an ir	off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption	d to eligik 40m res leads to	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, whomes	etween weighting, nich is equity					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted The portion value of a second sec	benefi in inco 0m and on of th to refle on of th a unit of	its of re ome an d PV £ he reba ect the g he reba f incom	bates and de d comfort; PN 1,010m respe te spent on ei greater value te not spent o ie for poorer h	bt write / £640r ctively. nergy c of an ir n energ nouseho	off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption ncrease in te gy consumpt olds.	d to eligik 40m res leads to mperatu ion is als	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h so equity weig	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, wh omes. ghted to reflee	etween weighting, nich is equity ct the greater					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted The portion value of a Other key nor The rebate is more comford and is therefore service. These 	benefit of in inco of of the to reflection of the a unit of h-mone design table in ore likel	ts of recome and of PV £ are rebated the graded the graded friction friction friction friction tised to reduce the graded to reduce the	bates and de d comfort; P\ 1,010m respe te spent on ei greater value te not spent o e for poorer h enefits by 'ma educe instand mperatures. prove social o fits have not b	bt write (£640r ctively. nergy c of an ir nouseho in affect ces of u This will butcome been m	-off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption ncrease in te gy consumpt olds. :ted groups' underheating I lower house es. Additionationationationationationationation	d to eligik 40m res leads to mperatu ion is als through eholds' s illy, it ma	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h so equity weig increased er usceptibility t y reduce cos	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, wh omes. ghted to reflee nergy consun to cold related t burdens to t	etween weighting, nich is equity ct the greater nption and d diseases the health					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted The portion value of a Other key non The rebate is more comfort and is therefore service. These Key assumption 	benefit in inco 0m and on of th to refle on of th a unit of n-mone design cable in ore likel se healt	ts of re ome an d PV £ he reba ect the g he reba f incom tised b hed to r door te y to im th bene nsitiviti	bates and de d comfort; P\ 1,010m respe te spent on ei greater value te not spent o he for poorer h enefits by 'ma educe instance mperatures. prove social o fits have not l ies/risks	bt write / £640r ctively. nergy c of an ir on energ louseho in affec ces of u butcome been m	-off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption hcrease in te gy consumpt olds. Eted groups' inderheating I lower house es. Additionationetised.	d to eligik 40m res leads to mperatu ion is als through eholds' s illy, it ma	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h so equity weig increased er usceptibility t y reduce cos	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, whomes. ghted to reflect hergy consum to cold related t burdens to the Discount	etween weighting, nich is equity ct the greater nption and d diseases the health 3.5%					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted The portion value of a Other key nor The rebate is more comford and is therefore service. These Key assumption The main assons Recipient hou heating (compay for the sons) 	benefit of in inco om and on of the to reflection of the a unit of h-mone design table in ore likel to healt to healt	ts of report and repor	bates and de d comfort; P\ 1,010m respe te spent on er greater value te not spent of e for poorer h enefits by 'ma educe instance prove social of fits have not h es/risks the ways in v expected to sp ne rest of the not receive a	bt write (£640r ctively. hergy c of an ir househo in affec ces of u This will been m which he bend a rebate a rebate	-off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption ncrease in te gy consumpt olds. ted groups' inderheating I lower house es. Additionation onetised.	d to eligik 40m res leads to mperatu ion is als through eholds' s illy, it ma re expect e rebate addition	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h so equity weig increased en usceptibility t y reduce cos ted to respon on increased al income. M uce their dem	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, whomes. ghted to reflee nergy consum to cold related t burdens to Discount d to the sche energy cons eanwhile, ho hand for energy	etween weighting, nich is equity ct the greater nption and d diseases the health 3.5% eme. sumption for useholds who gy.					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted The portion value of a Other key nor The rebate is more comfort and is therefore service. These Key assumption The main assons Recipient how heating (compay for the sons) BUSINESS As 	benefit in inco 0m and on of th to reflec on of th a unit of n-mone design able in ore likel is healt is healt is healt sumptic usehold fort-tak cheme	ts of re ome an d PV £ e reba ect the g ect the g re reba f incom tised b ned to r door te y to im th bene msitiviti ons are ds are e ing). Th and do	bates and de d comfort; P\ 1,010m respe te spent on er greater value te not spent o e for poorer h enefits by 'ma educe instand mperatures. prove social o fits have not l es/risks the ways in v expected to sp ne rest of the not receive a Option 1)	bt write (£640r ctively. hergy c of an ir n energy in affect ces of u This will been m which he beend a rebate rebate	off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption ncrease in te gy consumpt olds. ted groups' inderheating l lower house es. Additionation onetised.	d to eligit 40m res leads to mperatu ion is als through eholds' s illy, it ma re expect e rebate addition	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h so equity weig increased er usceptibility t y reduce cos ted to respon on increased al income. M uce their dem	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, whomes. ghted to reflee hergy consum to cold related t burdens to the Discount d to the sche energy cons eanwhile, ho hand for energe	etween weighting, nich is equity ct the greater nption and d diseases the health 3.5% eme. sumption for useholds who gy.					
 The main increases PV £1,46 The portion weighted The portion value of a Other key nor The rebate is more comfort and is therefore service. These Key assumption The main assons Recipient hou heating (compay for the sons BUSINESS Association 	benefit in inco 0m and on of the to reflect on of the a unit of n-mone design able in ore likel is healt is h	ts of re ome an d PV £ he reba ect the g he reba f incom tised b hed to r door te y to im th bene ds are e ing). Th and do MENT (iness (bates and de id comfort; P\ 1,010m respe te spent on er greater value te not spent of te for poorer h enefits by 'ma educe instand mperatures. T prove social of fits have not l es/risks the ways in v expected to sp ne rest of the not receive a Option 1) Equivalent An	bt write (£640r ctively. hergy c of an ir n energy in affect ces of u This will been m which he been d a rebate rebate nual) £	off delivered n and PV £4 onsumption hcrease in te gy consumpt olds. ted groups' inderheating l lower house es. Additionation onetised. ouseholds an portion of the is treated as are expected m:	to eligit 40m res leads to mperatu ion is als through eholds' s illy, it ma re expect e rebate addition ed to redu	ble household pectively, and an increase i re in colder h so equity weig increased er usceptibility t y reduce cos ted to respon on increased al income. M uce their dem	ds are split be d after equity n comfort, whomes. ghted to reflee hergy consum to cold related t burdens to the Discount d to the sche energy cons eanwhile, ho hand for energe	etween weighting, nich is equity ct the greater nption and d diseases the health 3.5% eme. sumption for useholds who gy.					

Summary: Analysis & Evidence for Policy Option 2 Description: Reform but keep spending level the same as in the current WHD scheme FULL ECONOMIC ASSESSMENT

Price Base	PV Ba	ase	Time		N	et Benefit (Present V	alue (PV)) (£m)		
2021	2021		4 years	Low:	-	High: -		Non-equity weight	ghted NPV: -	
								Equity weighted	d: £460m	
							1			
COSTS (£n	n)		Total Tra (Constant Price)	n sition Years	Averag (excl.	je Annual Transition)			Total Cost (Present Value)	
Best Estimate	9						Non-equity weighted PV: -£1,770 Equity weighted PV: -£2,370			
Description a	nd scal	e of ke	ey monetised o	osts by	'main affec	ted groups	s'			
 Suppliers raising prior PV £1,840 Increased 	recoup ces. Th)m. This income	the to is is es s inclu e for re	tal value of the stimated to lea des supplier a ebate recipient	eir obliga Id to cos Idministr s is exp	ation, plus a sts to consu rative costs ected to lea	any admini umers of P of PV £18 ad to a net	istrative co V £1,240r 3m. increase	osts they incur, th n, and after equi in energy consu	nrough ty weighting, mption,	
 which lead Those who consumption £13m. 	ds to ad o do no ion. Lov	lditiona It recei ver en	al resource co ive the rebate lergy consump	sts of P experie otion rec	V £220m. nce a reduc luces utility	ction of inc by PV £7r	ome, whic n, and aft	ch leads to reduc er equity weighti	ced energy ng, PV	
The net inThe net inAdministration	crease crease ative co	in ene in ene sts to (ergy consumpt ergy consumpt Government c	ion lead ion lead of PV £1	s to GHG e s to air qua 5m.	emissions ality costs o	costs of P of PV £16	V £270m. m.		
Other key not None identifi	n-mone ed	tised o	costs by 'main	affected	l groups'					
BENEFITS	(£m)		Total Tra (Constant Price)	n sition Years	Averag (excl.	je Annual Transition)			Total Benefit (Present Value)	
Best Estimate	e						Non-equit Equity we	ty weighted PV: £	1,220m	
Description a	nd scal	e of ke	ev monetised b	enefits	by 'main af	fected arou	ups'			
 Description and scale of key monetised benefits by 'main affected groups' The main benefits of rebates and debt write-off delivered to eligible households are split between increases in income and comfort; PV £640m and PV £440m respectively, and after equity weighting, PV £1,590m and PV £1,100m respectively. The portion of the rebate spent on energy consumption leads to an increase in comfort, which is equity weighted to reflect the greater value of an increase in temperature in colder homes. The portion of the rebate not spent on energy consumption is also equity weighted to reflect the greater value of an increase in temperature in colder homes. 										
Other key no	n-mone	tised k	penefits by 'ma	in affect	ted groups'	I				
The rebate is designed to reduce instances of underheating through increased energy consumption and more comfortable indoor temperatures. This will lower households' susceptibility to cold related diseases and is therefore likely to improve social outcomes. Additionally, it may reduce cost burdens to the health service. These health benefits have not been monetised.										
Key assumpt	ions/se	nsitivi	ties/risks					Discount	3.5%	
The main as Recipient ho heating (com who pay for t	The main assumptions are the ways in which households are expected to respond to the scheme. Recipient households are expected to spend a portion of the rebate on increased energy consumption for heating (comfort-taking). The rest of the rebate is treated as additional income. Meanwhile, households who pay for the scheme and do not receive a rebate are expected to reduce their demand for energy.									
BUSINESS A	SSESSI	MENT	(Option 2)							
Direct impact	on bus	iness	(Equivalent Ar	nual) £r	n:	Score for	Business	Impact Target (q	ualifying	
Costs: N/A		Bene	efits: N/A	Net: N/	A	provision	s only) £m	1.		

N/A

Summary: Analysis & Evidence for Policy Option 3 Description: Reform with additional spending FULL ECONOMIC ASSESSMENT

Price Base	PV Ba	ase	Time			Net	Benefit (Present V	alue (PV)) (£m)	
2021	2021		4 years	Low:	-	High: - Non-equity weighted N			ghted NPV: -	
									Equity weighte	d: £880m
COSTS (£n	n)		Total Tra (Constant Price	nsition) Years	IsitionAverage AnnuaYears(excl. Transition		erage Annual Total Cos excl. Transition) (Present Value			
Best Estimate	9							Non-equit Equity we	ty weighted PV: eighted PV: -£3,2	-£2,460m 90
 Description and scale of key monetised costs by 'main affected groups' Suppliers recoup the total value of their obligation, plus any administrative costs they incur, through raising prices. This is estimated to lead to costs to consumers of PV £1,710m, after equity weighting, PV £2,530m. This includes supplier administrative costs of PV £26m. Increased income for rebate recipients is expected to lead to a net increase in energy consumption, which leads to additional resource costs of PV £310m. Those who do not receive the rebate experience a reduction of income, which leads to reduced energy consumption. Lower energy consumption reduces utility by PV £10m, after equity weighting, PV £17m. The net increase in energy consumption leads to GHG emissions costs of PV £390m. The net increase in energy consumption leads to air quality costs of PV £23m. 										
Other key no None identifi	n-mone ed	tised o	costs by 'mair	affected	l groups'					
BENEFITS	(£m)		Total Tra (Constant Price	ansition) Years	Years (ex		Annual ransition)			Total Benefit (Present Value)
Best Estimate	e							Non-equit Equity we	ty weighted PV: eighted PV: £4,18	£1,680m 80m
 Description a The mair increases £2,380m The porti equity we The porti greater v 	 Description and scale of key monetised benefits by 'main affected groups' The main benefits of rebates and debt write-off delivered to eligible households are split between increases in income and comfort; PV £910m and PV £630m respectively, after equity weighting, PV £2,380m and PV £1,650m respectively. The portion of the rebate spent on energy consumption leads to an increase in comfort, which is equity weighted to reflect the greater value of an increase in temperature in colder homes. The portion of the rebate not spent on energy consumption is also equity weighted to reflect the greater value of a unit of income for poorer households. 									
Other key non-monetised benefits by 'main affected groups' The rebate is designed to reduce instances of underheating through increased energy consumption and more comfortable indoor temperatures. This will lower households' susceptibility to cold related diseases and is therefore likely to improve social outcomes. Additionally, it may reduce cost burdens to the health service. These health benefits have not been monetised.										
Key assumpt	ions/se	nsitivi	ties/risks						Discount	3.5%
The main as Recipient ho heating (com who pay for t	The main assumptions are the ways in which households are expected to respond to the scheme. Recipient households are expected to spend a portion of the rebate on increased energy consumption for heating (comfort-taking). The rest of the rebate is treated as additional income. Meanwhile, households who pay for the scheme and do not receive a rebate are expected to reduce their demand for energy.									
Direct impact	on bus	iness	(Equivalent A	nnual) £r	n:	Sc	ore for B	usiness Ir	mpact Target (qu	alifying
Costs: N/A		Bene	fits: N/A	Net: N/A	4	pro	ovisions	only) £m:		_
						N//	A			

Table of Contents

Sumr	mary: Intervention and Options	1
1.	Introduction to The Warm Home Discount	7
2.	Problem under consideration	9
3.	Rationale for Intervention	11
4.	Policy options	13
5.	Analytical approach to reform	16
6.	Impact Analysis	23
7.	Equalities Assessment	33
8.	Small and Micro Business Impact Assessment	36
9.	Risks, Assumptions and Sensitivities	39
10.	Summary and Preferred Option	45
11.	Monitoring and Evaluation	
12.	Annex	52
A	Annex 1: Regression model	
A	Annex 2: Equity weights	53
A	Annex 3: Equivalisation factors	54
A	Annex 4: Glossary	55

1. Introduction to The Warm Home Discount

- 1. The Warm Home Discount scheme (hereafter WHD) was introduced in April 2011 and covers Great Britain. It succeeds a previous Voluntary Agreement between Government and the largest energy suppliers to provide household level support to reduce energy costs.
- 2. WHD provides direct energy bill support, in the form of a rebate on energy bills, for fuel poor, low income and vulnerable households. This means that the policy both contributes to the Government's fuel poverty objectives, but also helps to address broader distributional concerns across low income households arising from energy price rises and the impact of energy and climate change policies funded through bills.
- 3. The cost of WHD is met by energy suppliers with the total spending envelope set for Great Britain during the 2015 Spending Review at £320m per year, in 2015 prices, rising with inflation.
- 4. In the 2020/21 scheme year the WHD provided help to more than 2.2m low income and vulnerable households in Great Britain¹. This comprised rebates of £140 paid to over 1 million lower income pensioners and around an additional 1.2m low income and vulnerable customers, and a range of other support to vulnerable households. Currently, the WHD scheme has an overall expenditure target for each financial year, which is divided into 3 main subgroups. About half of annual spending is on automatic rebates to the electricity bills of low income pensioners who are in receipt of a subset of Pension Credit, known as the 'Core Group'.
- 5. The level of annual Core Group expenditure is determined by the number of qualifying households each year. Customers eligible for the Core Group are identified by the Department for Work and Pensions. The remainder of the spending profile is referred to as 'Non-Core' expenditure. Each year the Secretary of State for the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy sets a minimum level of expenditure that participating suppliers are required to undertake on Non-Core activities in that scheme year. The 'Non-Core' activities are divided into two elements: the Broader Group and Industry Initiatives.
 - The '**Broader Group**' participating suppliers provide energy bill rebates to a variety of low income and vulnerable households, mainly of working age, who are not part of the Core Group. The number of rebates delivered to the Broader Group is currently 1.2 million.
 - **Industry Initiatives** participating suppliers are currently permitted to spend up to a collective total of £40m per year on actions to support households in fuel poverty or at risk of fuel poverty². These activities include providing debt write-off, installing energy efficiency measures and offering energy saving advice or providing rebates to certain households.
- 6. The WHD scheme was due to expire in March 2021; however, following a consultation³, Government extended the scheme for a further year, until March 2022.

¹ <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/warm-home-discount-annual-report-scheme-year-10</u>

² Industry initiatives are split across obligated energy suppliers according to their market share.

³ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/warm-home-discount-scheme-2021-to-2022</u>

- 7. The Energy White Paper, published in December 2020⁴, announced that the Government will: i) extend the WHD to at least 2025/26; ii) increase the spending envelope from the current £350 million to £475 million (in 2020 prices) per year from 2022, so that we can reach a further 750,000 households; and iii) consult on reforms to improve the fuel poverty targeting of the scheme.
- 8. The proposed reformed scheme would cover England and Wales only therefore the proposals in this document are written and quantified on the assumption that they will apply to England and Wales only (unless stated otherwise).
- 9. The £475m (in 2020 prices) spending envelope is set for Great Britain and will be approximately £506m in 2022 prices. The UK Government will apportion 9.4% (~48m) of this total to Scotland⁵. The remaining budget (~£458m) funds the proposed reformed scheme in England and Wales. The Government will consult on introducing a separate scheme in Scotland.
- 10. This impact assessment sets out the Government's options appraisal of the proposed reform.
- 11. Main changes since the Consultation stage Impact Assessment:
 - The total spend figures for the scheme have been updated to use the latest published figures for the consumer price index⁶
 - Carbon values have been updated to use the latest published values (published 2 September 2021) which are higher than those used in the consultation. This has increased the carbon costs of the scheme. For more details see paragraph 109
 - Housing Benefit has been included in the eligibility criteria for the reform options (options 2 and 3). See more details in paragraph 40.
 - The size of the Core Group (for option 1) and the equivalent Core Group 1 (for options 2 and 3) has been reduced to be consistent with DWP's latest estimates of the Core Group Live pool. For more details see paragraph 112.

⁴https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-white-paper-powering-our-net-zero-future

⁵ The number of electricity and gas meter points in Scotland as a proportion of Great Britain, averaged over the latest three years of data (2017-2019). Calculated using sub-national electricity and gas meter point data: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sub-national-electricity-</u> <u>consumption-data</u> and <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sub-national-gas-consumption-data</u>

⁶ <u>https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-october-2021/</u>

2. Problem under consideration

12. The WHD exists as part of the Government's aim to tackle and alleviate fuel poverty. Fuel poverty is defined in the Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act 2000 as:

"a person [who] is a member of a household living on a lower income in a home which cannot be kept warm at reasonable cost."

- 13. Fuel Poverty is a devolved matter, with separate indicators, targets and strategies adopted by each nation of the UK.
- 14. Sustainable Warmth (2021)⁷, the updated Fuel Poverty strategy for England, announced that Government is updating the way we measure fuel poverty in England. Previously, fuel poverty was measured using the Low Income High Cost (LIHC) metric. This stipulates that a household is fuel poor if it has higher than typical energy costs and, were the household to spend that amount on energy, they would be left with a residual income below the official poverty line⁸. The new measure, Low Income Low Energy Efficiency (LILEE), finds a household to be fuel poor if it has a residual income below the poverty line (after accounting for required energy costs) and lives in a home that has an energy efficiency rating below Band C.
- 15. The change in measure should not make a significant difference to the way we measure fuel poverty rates of those targeted by the WHD scheme: 88% of households that were fuel poor under the LIHC measure are also considered fuel poor under LILEE. There are 3.2 million households in fuel poverty under the LILEE measure in 2019⁹.
- 16. The LILEE measure removes the bias towards classifying households in larger properties as fuel poor and focuses more on the property's overall energy efficiency performance. Data limitations mean that the reforms outlined in this Impact Assessment cannot explicitly target households classified as 'Low Energy Efficiency'. This is because the data on household energy efficiency is limited; the Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) are only available for 50%-60% of households in England and Wales¹⁰. Therefore, the *eligibility criteria* will be based on the LIHC metric. Properties with high energy costs are likely to have a low EPC rating; hence, the rebates are still intended to be targeted to those who benefit most (as measured by the LILEE metric).
- 17. This Impact Assessment focuses on the *impact* of WHD reforms on fuel poverty using the new LILEE metric. This is consistent with the recently published Sustainable Warmth document.
- 18. Scotland¹¹ and Wales¹² use variations of the '10%' indicator, whereby a household is considered fuel poor if they need to spend more than 10% of their net income on energy. WHD reform will operate in England and Wales; however, this Impact Assessment calculates fuel poverty in England using the LILEE measure and then scales the results for England & Wales. This is consistent with previous Impact Assessments which used

23#coverage-of-energy-performance-certificate-data

⁷ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sustainable-warmth-protecting-vulnerable-households-in-england</u>

⁸ The poverty line (income poverty) is defined as an equivalised disposable income of less than 60% of the national median (Section 2): <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/articles/persistentpovertyintheukande</u> <u>u/2015</u>

⁹ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-fuel-poverty-statistics-report-2021</u>

¹¹ <u>https://www.gov.scot/policies/home-energy-and-fuel-poverty/fuel-poverty/</u>

¹² <u>https://gov.wales/fuel-poverty-estimates-wales-2018</u>

England's fuel poverty measure of the day to calculate fuel poverty in England and then scaled the results for Great Britain. This process is necessary as the analysis is based on England only data (English Housing Survey and Fuel Poverty statistics); hence, fuel poverty in England is measured and then scaled up to incorporate the participating devolved nations.

Fuel poverty energy efficiency rating (FPEER)

- 19. A home's energy efficiency rating, as measured under the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP)¹³, records how expensive a home is to heat and light and bases its estimates on standardised assumptions for occupancy and behaviour. WHD temporarily reduces heating costs through provision of energy bill rebates. Currently, the WHD provides an electricity bill rebate of £140 to reduce the home's energy bill by £126 (£140 less the estimated policy cost of £14) and therefore reduces the fuel poverty gap¹⁴. Official statistics¹⁵ measure these reductions in fuel costs using the Fuel Poverty Energy Efficiency Rating (FPEER). FPEER builds on SAP methodology as it also considers the impact of policy interventions that directly affect household energy costs (thereby adopting an approach closer to BREDEM¹⁶). Therefore, FPEER is relatively better than SAP at identifying fuel poor households as it considers the impact of policies, such as the WHD, on energy costs. The WHD rebate reduces energy bills and hence it temporarily improves a household's FPEER rating.
- 20. The Government has a statutory target to raise as many English fuel poor homes as is reasonably practicable to a minimum of FPEER band C by the end of 2030, with milestones of band E (2020) and band D (2025). Energy efficiency improvements are the most effective way to support those facing fuel poverty in a lasting way. However, installing energy efficiency measures takes time, and currently many families are still living in a cold home. WHD provides an interim measure, while energy efficiency programmes are rolled out, by temporarily reducing the cost to heat a home through an energy bill rebate.

¹³ <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/standard-assessment-procedure</u>

¹⁴ A household's fuel poverty gap is the reduction in fuel bills it needs to move out of fuel poverty.

¹⁵ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fuel-poverty-statistics</u>

¹⁶ <u>https://www.bre.co.uk/page.jsp?id=3176</u>

3. Rationale for Intervention

- 21. It will take time to install energy efficiency measures for low income and vulnerable households and hence Government has intervened and designed the WHD which provides temporary relief. The scheme provides energy bill rebates to low income and vulnerable households as the payments provide short-term, direct relief to eligible households and are relatively quick to deliver.
- 22. The existing WHD scheme is due to end when Scheme Year 11 (2021/22) concludes in March 2022. Extending and reforming the WHD scheme will enable Government to provide continued support toward vulnerable households. These benefits are discussed in greater detail below:
 - Tackling Fuel Poverty: Living at low temperatures poses a risk to health, with a range of negative morbidity and mortality impacts associated with exposure to the cold. The Marmot Review Team report on cold homes and health¹⁷, the Hills Fuel Poverty Review¹⁸ and recently published BEIS research¹⁹ set out the strong body of evidence linking low temperatures to these poor health outcomes. Government has fuel poverty targets in place which seek to reduce the number of people living in a cold home over time and hence improve health outcomes. Fabric changes to fuel poor homes, such as installing insulation, would sustainably protect vulnerable households over the long term. However, it is not possible to install energy efficiency measures in all fuel poor households immediately and consequently a short term solution is necessary. The WHD provides vulnerable households with a rebate on their energy bill and hence encourages occupants to heat their homes to a warmer temperature. This reduces the number of fuel poor. As a result, the incidence of health problems associated with cold homes should reduce.
 - **Distributional Equity:** High energy prices disproportionately affect low income households because heating is a necessity good (the demand for energy is income inelastic). Therefore, energy costs, on average, make up a relatively larger proportion of low-income households' expenditure than higher income households. This issue is exacerbated by properties with low energy efficiency, where households in the bottom four income deciles live in FPEER D-G households and must spend more on energy to heat their home.
 - **Covid-19:** The negative economic impacts of the coronavirus pandemic are likely to have continued impacts on incomes and unemployment. Affected households are likely to face the distributional equity issues laid out above. The WHD scheme would therefore continue to protect vulnerable low-income households including pensioners.

Reforming the Warm Home Discount scheme

23. The WHD was introduced for the purpose of supporting the most vulnerable by focusing support to low income pensioners, but over time our understanding and measurement of fuel poverty has changed and, according to BEIS analysis, working families with children

¹⁷ Marmot Review Team (2011). *The Health Impacts of Cold Homes and Fuel Poverty*. Available at: <u>http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty</u>

¹⁸ Hills (2011). *Fuel Poverty: The Problem and Its Measurement*. Available at: <u>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/39270/1/CASEreport69%28lsero%29.pdf</u>

¹⁹ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/heat-energy-efficiency-smart-technology-and-health-review</u>

are around twice as likely to be fuel poor than pensioners. Internal BEIS modelling estimates that over a third of households receiving the WHD rebate under the current scheme are fuel poor. Low income is a broad indicator of fuel poverty but is improved significantly if a high energy cost criterion (as per the high-cost approach explained in paragraph 16) is introduced alongside low income criteria. The continuation of WHD is vital in continuing to support the fuel poverty strategy of targeting and relieving energy cost burdens on fuel poor households, particularly those who are likely to have the highest energy costs and supporting a worst first principle²⁰. The worst first principle relates to low income households with poor energy efficiency ratings. These homes face high heating costs but cannot afford them nor can they afford to improve the energy performance of their home.

- 24. The Government has committed in Parliament to reform eligibility, improve the fuel poverty targeting of the scheme and provide automatic rebates to more households. New legal gateways were introduced in the Digital Economy Act 2017, specifically to enable data matching to help target automatic rebates to fuel poor customers. This aim was widely supported during the passage of the Bill and the Government now has an opportunity to apply high cost criteria as part of a set of reforms to coincide with extending the scheme from 2022/23 and beyond.
- 25. The rationale for extending the scheme is therefore to continue supporting low income and vulnerable households for a further 4 years (until 2025/26) which provides continuity and mitigates some of the adverse economic impacts of Covid-19. The proposed reforms to the scheme, effective 2022/23, will seek to ensure that rebates are provided to households which benefit most.
- 26. In the context of rising energy prices, the Government is continuing with plans to reform the WHD scheme, as consulted on. The aim of the reforms is to maximise the number of fuel poor households provided with support for heating their homes each winter. At a rebate value of £150, we have struck a balance between supporting as many households as possible – around 2.8 million households across England and Wales – with providing meaningful support. The WHD is consumer-funded, and we estimate the reforms will increase bills by around £5. Further increases in the rebate value or the numbers of recipients would increase bills for those who do not receive the rebate.
- 27. In response to the high energy prices, the Chancellor has announced²¹ that the majority of households will receive £350 through a £200 discount on energy bills for households in Great Britain this autumn and a £150 non-repayable reduction in Council Tax bills for households in Bands A-D in England. An extra £144 million will also be given to councils to provide discretionary support to vulnerable households who may not qualify for the £150 council tax rebate. The devolved administrations will receive around £715 million funding through the Barnett formula.

²⁰ See page 17 of the 'Sustainable Warmth: protecting vulnerable households' document:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sustainable-warmth-protecting-vulnerable-households-in-england

¹ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/millions-to-receive-350-boost-to-help-with-rising-energy-costs</u>

4. Policy options

28. The objectives of the WHD are to:

- Lower the depth of fuel poverty through providing energy bill support to low income and vulnerable households who are at risk of or in fuel poverty.
- Alleviate distributional inequity, by lowering the disproportionate impact of the cost of energy on low income vulnerable households.
- 29. From 2022/23 the government is proposing to reform the WHD scheme by introducing a high energy cost criterion to the broader group (which will be called 'Core Group 2'). The specific changes are listed in the description of options and reflect the preferred option of increasing the WHD budget to £458m across England and Wales from the start of the new scheme. Scotland would receive apportioned funding and the Government consult on introducing a separate scheme in Scotland from 2022 onwards. The proposed changes cannot be implemented in Scotland due to differences in data (therefore Scotland is not considered in this Impact Assessment). The key changes proposed are to:
 - Extend the scheme from April 2022 to March 2026 to help contribute to the 2025 fuel poverty milestone.
 - Increase England and Wales funding by £125m (in 2022 prices) per year. The current scheme increases the average dual fuel bill by approximately £14 per year. The proposed additional spend is estimated to increase bills by a further ~£5 per year (~0.4% of the average annual dual fuel bill²²) to ~£19 per year.
 - Increase the energy bill rebate to £150 per eligible household.
 - Reform broader group eligibility by introducing a high cost eligibility criterion.
 - A staged approach to reducing the supplier obligation threshold.

Summary of Options

Option 0 - do *nothing*. Allow the current WHD scheme to lapse. This provides a counterfactual upon which the subsequent policy options are based.

Option 1 - no reform. Extend the scheme without reform and therefore allocate all rebates based on low income criteria. This achieves the lowest fuel poverty targeting (~39% recipients in fuel poverty).

Option 2 – *reform*. Reforming the WHD scheme targeting by introducing a 'high cost' element. Improves the fuel poverty targeting (to \sim 44%), while protecting low income pensioners who are current recipients and maintaining current spending.

Option 3 - reform with additional spending (preferred option). Reforming the WHD scheme targeting by introducing a 'high cost' element, alongside increasing the WHD budget by £125m (adding £5 to the average dual fuel bill). This achieves the highest fuel poverty rate of all the options (~47%) and provides support to more low income households.

30. Option 1 (no reform) would see the WHD scheme continued in its current form by extending the scheme from 2022/23 to 2025/26. All rebates would be targeted to low income households without consideration of energy costs and therefore make the least contribution to the fuel poverty milestone, with ~39% of recipients being in fuel poverty. Recipients in the broader group would continue to apply on a first come first served basis.

²² <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/infographic-bills-prices-and-profits#Plain-text%20version%20infographic</u>

- 31. Option 2 (reform) will safeguard receipt of the rebate for the Core Group of low income pensioners and provide automatic rebates to ~1.1m other benefit recipients most at risk of fuel poverty. The Core Group would remain unchanged in terms of its eligibility criteria (i.e. automatic rebates provided to Pension Credit Guarantee Credit recipients) but the Broader Group would be rebranded Core Group 2 and reformed so that automatic rebates can be provided to those who are identified as low income and likely to have high energy costs.
- 32. Option 3 (reform with additional spending) will be as option 2 but also increase the number of Core Group 2 recipients and reduce the number of households potentially losing out from reform. A larger spending envelope would increase the cost of the policy on energy bills by £5 (from ~£14 to ~£19) for all households with obligated suppliers (i.e. ~0.4% of the average household's dual fuel bill²³).
- 33. The current WHD allows energy suppliers to spend up to £40m of their non-core obligation on "Industry Initiatives" projects (~£34m spending in 2020/21²⁴). This covers a range of innovative energy bill savings support targeted at low income and vulnerable households who may not get the WHD rebate as they are not on benefits. Charities supporting these industry initiatives report this is highly valuable support for the hardest to reach and is often used in conjunction with the Energy Company Obligation²⁵. Improvement and innovation are encouraged as they are best aligned to future Government priorities (such as helping customers who self-disconnect). All three options set out in this impact Assessment propose a continuation of Industry Initiatives.
- 34. The total WHD spending envelope will be adjusted using inflation forecasts for each year of the extended scheme. We plan to estimate inflation using the latest available CPI forecasts and set the annual spending obligations in the Regulations to provide certainty around the budget across the scheme years. Industry Initiatives spending would become mandatory and start at around £40m in 2022/23. In future years, all else being equal, it would then increase (or decrease) in nominal terms as the total spending envelope rises (or falls) with the CPI forecasts. However, spending on the Core Group rebates may change across years and it is proposed that Industry Initiatives spending would be used to absorb any overspending or underspending in the Core Groups. Therefore, the spending target for Industry Initiatives would be adjusted each year, as appropriate. Table 1 sets out the base obligation figures based on the latest CPI forecasts available at the time the analysis was undertaken.

	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25	2025/26
Option 1 (No reform)	£334m	£343m	£349m	£356m
Option 2 (Partial reform)	£334m	£343m	£349m	£356m
Option 3 (Partial reform & increased spend)	£458m	£470m	£480m	£489m
Of which Industry Initiatives under options 1 & 2 ²⁶	£40m	£49m	£55m	£62m

Table	1: WI	HD prop	osed spend	ling envelo	pe for Er	ngland an	d Wales	(2022 prices)
-------	-------	---------	------------	-------------	-----------	-----------	---------	---------------

²³ <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/infographic-bills-prices-and-profits#Plain-text%20version%20infographic</u>

²⁴ <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/warm-home-discount-annual-report-scheme-year-10</u>

²⁵ <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/environmental-programmes/eco</u>

²⁶ Spending on rebates for households in the Core Groups is likely to fluctuate across years as the sizes of the eligible pools change. Therefore, spending on Industry Initiatives may be adjusted to allow for overspends and underspends on rebates; by up to £10m compared to the base obligation (whose expected levels are set out in Table 1). Further explanation of this process can be found in the accompanying Government response to the consultation.

Of which Industry Initiatives under option 327	£40m	£52m	£62m	£71m
--	------	------	------	------

- 35. The energy bill rebate will remain fixed at £150 throughout the scheme extension and reflects an increase to the current rebate of £140, which will offset the additional cost of the policy (£125m or an extra ~£5 per household).
- 36. The policy will be delivered by energy suppliers in proportion to their share of the GB-wide market. For the 2021/22 scheme year, electricity suppliers with at least 150,000 domestic customer accounts (or who are part of a group of electricity or gas supply companies which together have 150,000 or more domestic customer accounts) are obligated to deliver Core Group rebates under the WHD. Electricity suppliers with at least 250,000 domestic customer accounts (or who are part of a group of electricity or gas supply companies which together have 250,000 or more domestic customer accounts) are obligated to deliver Broader Group rebates and Industry Initiatives under the WHD. The policy options considered propose a staged approach to reducing the supplier obligation threshold:
 - From scheme year 2022/23 electricity suppliers with at least 50,000 domestic customer accounts²⁸ across Great Britain (or who are part of a group of electricity or gas supply companies which together have 50,000 or more domestic customer accounts) will be obligated to participate fully in the scheme.
 - ii) From scheme year 2023/24 onwards, suppliers with at least 1,000 customer accounts will be obliged to participate fully in the WHD.
- 37. Section 8 considers the impact the reduction in the supplier obligation threshold could have on energy suppliers and customers.

 ²⁷ Spending on Industry Initiatives under option 3 rises by a greater amount than under options 1 & 2 as the entire (increased) spending envelope rises with inflation and the additional budget is added solely to non-core obligations.
 ²⁸ Where a supply of dual fuel is treated as a supply to two domestic customers.

5. Analytical approach to reform

38. As Government is proposing that these reforms will be implemented to WHD recipients in England and Wales, the following analysis is representative of England and Wales only. The impacts of the different WHD policy options have been estimated using the 2017/18 English Housing Survey (EHS) and accompanying Fuel Poverty dataset. The analytical approach explains how the policy options are modelled and how this relates to scheme delivery using data matching.

Scheme Eligibility

- 39. The WHD is currently given to eligible low-income households in receipt of specific means-tested benefits. At present, this forms two low income groups (the Core Group and Broader Group) set out in Table 2. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) helps administer the WHD by matching households to the Core Group (Core Group 1), whereas eligible Broader Group households currently apply for a rebate from their energy supplier, usually on a first-come first-served basis. Under the reform options a new Core Group 2 is proposed, that will be matched to DWP benefits data as before but also matched to Valuation Office Agency (VOA) data to identify the age, size and type of property. This information will be used to determine if the property should be categorised as high cost (explained in more detail in the next section). Figure 1 illustrates the data flows used to calculate a household's eligibility.
- 40. Since the consultation, Housing Benefit has been added to the eligibility criteria for Core Group 2. Housing Benefit is a means-tested benefit and is being replaced by Universal Credit. Universal Credit is also replacing three of the proposed low-income qualifying benefits for WHD: income-related Employment and Support Allowance, income-based Jobseeker's Allowance, and Income Support. In the interest of treating these legacy means-tested benefits fairly and equally, the Government has decided to include Housing Benefit among the Core Group 2 qualifying low-income benefits. Housing Benefit is also proposed to be included in the eligibility criteria for ECO4²⁹.

²⁹ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/design-of-the-energy-company-obligation-eco4-2022-2026</u>

	Core Group	Broader Group ⁽ⁱ⁾				
Current	Pension Credit	Income related Employment and Support Allowance(ii)				
income	(PCGC)	Income based Jobseeker's Allowance(ii)				
eligibility rules		Income Support ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾				
		Universal Credit ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾				
		Child Tax Credit ⁽ⁱⁱ⁾				
	Core Group 1	Core Group 2 ⁽ⁱⁱⁱ⁾				
Proposed	PCGC	Income related Employment and Support Allowance				
income		Income based Jobseeker's Allowance				
rules under		Income Support				
		Housing Benefit				
		Universal Credit				
		Child Tax Credits ^(iv)				
		Working Tax Credits ^(iv)				
		Pension Credit Savings Credit (PCSC) but not PCGC				
() The supplier s	ets the eligibility crite	ria for the provision of rebates, subject to Ofgem				

⁽ⁱ⁾ The supplier sets the eligibility criteria for the provision of rebates, subject to Ofgem approval. However, beneficiaries must wholly or mainly be living in fuel poverty or in a fuel poverty risk group and the criteria must at least include persons in receipt of the benefits listed above.

⁽ⁱⁱ⁾ Further mandatory eligibility criteria apply in addition to the base requirement to be in receipt of the relevant benefit, such as requirements to have parental responsibility for a child under 5 or to be in receipt of a particular disability, pensioner, or other element of the benefit. We do not propose to keep these additional criteria for Core Group 2.

^(III) These means-tested and income-related benefits comprise the low-income criteria. Low-income households are then subject to high energy cost criteria, explained below.

^(w) Households in receipt of these Tax Credits must be below a household income threshold, adjusted according to household composition ('equivalisation'). The detail of these thresholds will be consulted on in a later statement of eligibility.

Data matching and identifying "high energy cost"

41. WHD Core Group rebates are currently allocated automatically by data matching DWP Pension Credit Guarantee Credit (PCGC) recipients to obligated energy suppliers' customer records. Core Group spend is calculated based on successful matches and this determines the size of the Core Group, which in turn determines the budget available to the Broader Group. The Core Group and Broader Group are modelled in this analysis by identifying households within the EHS in receipt of PCGC and Broader Group eligible benefits listed in Table 2.

42. Under the reform options (options 2 and 3) a new Core Group 2 is proposed that will supersede the Broader Group. VOA data will be introduced to determine which homes should be deemed to have high expected energy costs. VOA data on floor area, type of property (e.g. flat, semi-detached, detached, etc.) and age of building will be used as the independent variables in a regression model. The regression will predict a home's **energy costs** based on these explanatory variables. A home's exact energy costs will depend on many factors not directly captured by these three factors. The regression equation (detailed in the Annex) is of the following form:

Estimated Energy Cost = Intercept + (A × Age) + (B × Floor area) + (C × Property type)

- 43. The regression predicts energy costs, which is a variable available in the English Housing Survey's Fuel Poverty dataset³⁰. Predicted energy costs is calculated for households in England and Wales to identify which ones appear to be high cost. These explanatory variables are available in the VOA data for the vast majority of homes in England and Wales (but not Scotland). Some of the data values in a minority of cases (2%) are missing, but BEIS has developed imputation processes to estimate these values using a range of statistical techniques. The regression approach was developed in collaboration with UCL and then peer reviewed by the ONS. A more detailed explanation of the regression approach is provided in the Annex.
- 44. Homes will be ranked according to their modelled energy costs and matched to DWP benefits records to determine those that are low income. Of these low income households, those that sit above a "high-energy cost" threshold would form the Core Group 2. The following would determine where Government sets the "high-energy cost threshold": i) desired level of spending ii) the assumed matching success rate with energy suppliers and iii) assumptions on how many additional households may claim a rebate through the helpline ("sweep-up" process). Close to the start of the reformed scheme, Government intends to publish a policy statement setting out the "high energy cost threshold" and the detailed high energy cost eligibility criteria (i.e. the combinations of property age, type and floor area).
- 45. This high-cost threshold and high cost criteria for Core Group 2 would be set in the first year of the scheme. Government intends to keep eligibility criteria for Core Group 2 unchanged for the lifetime of the scheme and rely on the flexible Industry Initiatives spending to partially balance variations. However, should there be consistently large Core Group overspends or underspends, we may change the Core Group 2 high-cost threshold. We would also intend to re-run the regression analysis each year to ensure the eligibility assessment is based on the latest available data.
- 46. Figure 1 below broadly shows the two elements of the proposed reformed scheme's information being matched. As described above, benefit data in the top left is used to filter households believed to be low income into the Core Groups 1 and 2. Housing characteristic data from the VOA supplements this (top right) to find those households likely to have high heating costs. Households in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit form Core Group 1. Other low-income households are ranked by heating cost and those that sit above a fuel cost threshold (determined by available budget) form the Core Group 2.

³⁰ <u>https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue/studies/study?id=8655</u>

47. As explained above, the proposed reformed scheme uses VOA data on property characteristics to predict each household's energy costs. Where these data are unavailable it may be possible to impute the missing value(s) using a range of statistical methods. It is anticipated that most Core Group 1 and 2 households will be matched to energy suppliers by DWP and will receive the rebate automatically. However, some household groups may need to provide additional information so that they can receive a rebate. These households will receive a letter from Government encouraging them to participate in the sweep up process³¹.

³¹ The 'Data matching and sweep up' section of the consultation document describes the household groups which receive letters and outlines the sweep-up process.

Figure 1: WHD proposed Core Group 1 and 2 customer flow diagram:



Spending profile

- 48. The budget for the WHD in England and Wales based on our preferred option (option 3) would start at £458m in 2022/23. If spending were to continue at current levels then the 2022/23 budget would be £334 million. Figure 2 shows the spending levels for the preferred option, increasing with inflation³² during the 4-year scheme extension.
- 49. In the first year, Industry Initiatives is proposed to be set at £40m and spending on these activities will be deducted from the total spending envelope each year. The "base spending target" on Industry Initiatives (£40m rising ~£9-12m year on year) will be reduced (if there is an estimated overspend in the Core Groups) or increased (if there is an estimated underspend in the Core Groups)³³.
- 50. The size and budget of Core Group 1 will be calculated and deducted based on DWP counts and then assuming ~85% match rate to energy supplier customer accounts (see assumptions section for an explanation of the 'Core Group coverage'). What remains of the WHD budget will be allocated spend to the Core Group 2 pool. The desired Core Group 2 spend calculation for the first year of the scheme is therefore:

Core Group 2 spend = Total spending envelope – Industry Initiatives – Core Group 1 spend

- 51. As outlined above, the 'high cost' threshold would be set for the first year of the reformed scheme. Government does not intend to change this threshold in subsequent scheme years so that households on the 'border' have a degree of certainty over whether they will qualify for a rebate. This means flows into and out of the low-income pool will affect the Core Group 2 pool size. Industry Initiatives spending is designed to counteract variations in Core Group spend. Suppliers are mandated to spend £40m on Industry Initiatives in 2022/23 but may spend a lower amount if spending on rebates in either Core Group is higher than expected and vice versa. If a situation arises in which Industry Initiatives are not enough to counteract significant variation in Core Group spend, the Government may consider intervening, in the first quarter of the relevant scheme year, by adjusting the high energy cost threshold to ensure the WHD budget is met. Government may decide in the first quarter of subsequent calendar years whether the high cost threshold should be changed.
- 52. Changes to the eligible pool between scheme years and the risks to spending levels associated with this are discussed in more detail in the Risks, Assumptions and Sensitivities section.

³² Based on consumer price index projections from OBR, Economic and Fiscal Outlook, October 2021: Table 1.7: Inflation https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-october-2021/

³³ Overspending and underspending provisions are covered in more detail in the Consultation Document that this Impact Assessment accompanies.





6. Impact Analysis

Impact on households

- 53. The following analysis assumes a rebate value of £150 for all policy options so that the changes in recipient numbers between options are comparable and not skewed by a change in rebate value.
- 54. For the first scheme year 2022/23, Core Group 1 expenditure is estimated to be approximately £130m to support around 1 million households. Core Group 2 expenditure varies between £164m to £288m depending on the size of the scheme (options 2 or 3) supporting between 1.1m and 1.9m households.
- 55. The Government does not currently collect demographic information about who within the Broader Group receives the WHD rebate. This means the modelled estimates used below in Table 3 to predict current recipients in the Broader Group, under the no reform option 1, will be subject to a greater level of uncertainty compared to the Core Group 2 upon which data is collected. Therefore, comparison between changes in WHD recipients between option 1 (no reform) and the reform options 2 and 3, should be considered with the caveat that modelled recipients in option 1 are assumed to be representative³⁴ of real-life recipients.
- 56. Net changes in the characteristics of recipients are presented but not intra flows between them as these are subject to even greater uncertainty for the reason mentioned above. Table 3 shows the number of rebates distributed to household groups under the policy options considered. Table 4 highlights the impacts of reforming the WHD on the number of rebates each household group receives, relative to the current scheme (policy option 1). Similarly, Table 5 illustrates the change in the number of rebates given to households in receipt of specific benefits, relative to the no reform scenario.

³⁴ BEIS have used the English Housing Survey to model likely recipients based on derived benefits flags.

Table 3: Number of rebates to household groups for each policy option in 2022/23 (excluding industry initiatives) in England and Wales

	Policy Option 1	Policy Option 2	Policy Option 3	
			Reform with additional	
	No Reform	Reform	spending	
Pensioner	700,000	770,000	850,000	
Single working age without children	300,000	130,000	240,000	
Single working age with children	350,000	200,000	410,000	
Working age couple without children	170,000	170,000	260,000	
Working age couple with children	190,000	400,000	620,000	
Other working age	250,000	290,000	390,000	
Of which				
PCGC recipient	860,000	860,000	860,000	
DLA/PIP recipient ³⁵	810,000	340,000	520,000	
Total fuel poor recipients	750,000	860,000	1,320,000	
Proportion fuel poor	39%	44%	47%	
Total recipients	1,960,000	1,950,000	2,790,000	

Figures may not sum due to rounding.

Based on analysis using the English Housing Survey/Fuel Poverty dataset 2017/18, upscaled from England to England and Wales.

Fuel poor figures may not align with the fuel poverty statistics, the figures shown measure fuel poverty before WHD.

Due to the modelling methodology and the use of survey data, small changes in rebate recipients between policy options are unlikely to be significant.

Note that DLA/PIP / PCGC / fuel poor recipients are not mutually exclusive and may overlap.

Total number of DLA/PIP recipients is based on benefits survey data and may be underrepresented compared to administrative data.

Number of PCGC recipients is based on the DWP forecasts (DWP, Benefit expenditure and caseload tables 2020, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2020)

Differences in 'Pensioners' and 'PCGC recipient' are largely due to the use of survey data (where the respondent is not always the rebate recipient) and the derived classification of the 'Pensioner' household type.

³⁵ Households in receipt of the Attendance Allowance (AA) disability benefit only have not been included in the figures in this row. If AA were included together with DLA and PIP it would increase the figures by around 90,000 for each policy option. AA is a pension age disability benefit and the majority of AA recipients who receive a WHD rebate also receive PCGC (~85%) and would therefore receive a Core Group (1) WHD rebate.

Table 4: Changes in rebates to household groups compared to option 1

	Policy Option 2	Policy Option 3
	Reform	Reform with additional spending
Pensioner	60,000	150,000
Single working age without children	-170,000	-50,000
Single working age with children	-150,000	60,000
Working age couple without children	2,000	90,000
Working age couple with children	210,000	430,000
Other working age	40,000	150,000

Refer to footnotes for Table 3

Table 5: Changes in rebates to households in receipt of specific benefits compared to Option 1

	Policy Option 2		Policy Option	า 3
	Reform		Reform with additional sp	ending
PCGC recipient	Unchanged		Unchanged	
DLA/PIP recipient ³⁶		-470,000		-290,000

Refer to footnotes for Table 3

- 57. The impact of introducing high cost criteria to the Core Group 2 will improve targeting to working age couples with children in particular, compared to the current scheme. Increasing the spending envelope in option 3 is likely to benefit all socio-demographic groups, with the exception of a reduction in rebates for those who are single working age without children. Working age couples with children see the largest benefit, with recipients estimated to increase from 190,000 to 620,000.
- 58. There are likely to be fewer DLA/PIP recipients under options 2 and 3 (-470,000 and -290,000 respectively) which is a consequence of removing disability benefit eligibility as a sub-criteria (see Table 2). This is discussed in more detail later in this section.
- 59. The WHD is a redistributive policy, and therefore distributional impacts such as equity analysis attempts to evaluate energy bill rebates' distribution by income bracket. An estimate of the distribution of the eligible population across different income decile groups is shown in Figure 3 below.
- 60. Option 1 (no reform) is the least effective in targeting lowest income households although it does deliver the majority of rebates (61%) to bottom 3 deciles. Options 2 and 3 target 63% and 66% of rebates to the lowest 3 income decile households.

³⁶ Households in receipt of the Attendance Allowance (AA) disability benefit only have not been included in the figures in this row. If AA were included together with DLA and PIP the numbers would be very similar; the change in rebate numbers compared to the no reform option would be slightly smaller but within 10,000 of those quoted here.





Source: Analysis of English Housing Survey/Fuel Poverty dataset 2017/18, upscaled from England to England and Wales

61. The SAP methodology is used by Government to assess the energy performance of households. Building on SAP, the FPEER methodology also accounts for the impact of policy interventions which directly affect household energy costs, such as the Warm Home Discount. Government aims to improve as many fuel poor households in England as is reasonably practicable to a minimum of FPEER band C by the end of 2030³⁸. Table 6 shows that under preferred option 3, approximately 880,000 households are modelled to move from FPEER D-G to FPEER A-C, 230,000 more than in the current scheme. This suggests the proposed reform with additional spending option will further reduce energy bills and can relieve high energy costs for households with low energy efficiency.

 ³⁷ Income deciles are based on equivalised income after housing costs. Disability benefits are included in income in this chart.
 ³⁸ https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sustainable-warmth-protecting-vulnerable-households-in-england

Table 6: Changes in FPEER band for all households due to WHD rebates (England and Wales)

FPEER Band	No WHD	Change under No Reform	Change under Reform	Change under Reform with additional spending
A-B	340,000	220,000	110,000	130,000
С	8,090,000	440,000	440,000	750,000
D	12,640,000	-550,000	-430,000	-730,000
E	2,770,000	-90,000	-80,000	-100,000
F	750,000	-10,000	-30,000	-30,000
G	190,000	-5,000	-6,000	-10,000

Source: Analysis of the English Housing Survey 2017/18 and Fuel Poverty dataset 2018.

62. Table 7 shows that the proposed reform provides a larger share of rebates to households with the lowest energy efficiency ratings (FPEER rating of D and below) than the current scheme. For the proposed reform, an estimated 75% of all recipients are expected to be in homes rated D-G, compared to 62% for the current scheme. For Core Group 2 recipients only, where rebates are allocated to households with the highest estimated energy costs (as a proxy for low energy efficiency), 78% are rated D-G under the reform options. This compares to 57% for the current broader group, where we expect rebates are randomly allocated amongst the eligible pool.

Table 7: Distribution of WHD recipients across FPEER bands (FPEER band calculated before the effect of the WHD)

Recipients	FPEER Band	No Reform	Reform	Reform with additional spending
All	A-C	38%	28%	25%
	D-G	62%	72%	75%
Broader Group / Core Group 2	A-C	43%	22%	22%
only	D-G	57%	78%	78%

63. The reformed WHD scheme covers England and Wales but does not have a geographical focus in terms of allocating rebates, rather it intends to target low income and vulnerable households. We can only estimate the regional distribution for England as we do not have the required data for Wales, see paragraph 108. For England, those modelled as in receipt of rebates under the different policy options is similar to the estimated regional distribution of the fuel poor population in England. For example, for the preferred option, the regions in which households receive the most rebates match the regions with the highest proportion of fuel poor homes (London and the North West). The fewest rebates go to the North East, which has the smallest share of fuel poor homes in England³⁹.

³⁹ Table 6: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fuel-poverty-detailed-tables-2021</u>

Impact on households in receipt of a disability benefit

- 64. Table 3 showed that 810,000 households in receipt of a disability benefit (DLA/PIP) are estimated to receive a rebate under the current scheme (policy option 1). Modelling suggests that this number could fall by 290,000 (-35%) to 520,000 under the proposed reform (policy option 3). However, the proposed reform will improve fuel poverty targeting by prioritising households with low income and high energy costs, therefore the change in the absolute number of <u>fuel poor</u> disability benefit recipients receiving the WHD rebate will be smaller. We estimate that around 90k fewer fuel poor disability benefit recipients will receive the rebate under the proposed reform (option 3) compared to the current scheme (option 1). We also model an increase of 160,000 (+12%) in the number of recipients with a long-term illness or disability⁴⁰. The equalities analysis in section 7 (Table 13) shows that while the overall proportion of recipients with a long term illness or disability reduces under the proposed reformed, it is still higher than the proportion of fuel poor with a disability, and the proportion of the overall population with a disability.
- 65. The inclusion of disability benefits as a qualifying benefit in the no reform option 1 does not always lead to improved targeting of fuel poor households since many disability benefit recipients have incomes that are comparatively higher than other benefit recipients⁴¹. However, in 2018 the fuel poverty rate of households with a long term illness or disability was ~22%, higher than the fuel poverty rate of the overall population, which was ~16%⁴².
- 66. Under the reform options 2 and 3, disability benefit recipients are included in the 'low income' pool if they are also in receipt of a qualifying means-tested benefit listed in Table 2. Disability benefit recipients will be treated the same as the rest of the low income pool in the Core Group 2 by having high cost criteria applied and filtered out if their estimated energy costs are below the threshold.
- 67. The 2017/18 EHS Fuel Poverty dataset suggests around 62% of disability benefit (DLA/PIP) recipients would be considered 'low income' under the criteria for WHD reform⁴³. The fuel poverty rate for that group is ~41%, compared to only ~14% for those disability benefit (DLA/PIP) recipients not eligible for the reformed WHD scheme under the 'low income' criteria. Therefore, including DLA/PIP or other disability benefits as qualifying benefits in their own right is unlikely to target more low-income disabled households that are at risk of fuel poverty.
- 68. Households with a disability who are no longer in contention for a rebate under the proposed reform would be those in higher income deciles or living in households that are estimated to have lower relative energy costs.
- 69. The regression approach (outlined in section 5) for estimating energy costs is based on property characteristics and does not consider the different heating requirements of different households e.g., due to disabilities or long-term health conditions. There is some

⁴⁰ A household that contains someone with a long-term illness/disability that states their condition reduces their ability to carry out day-to-day activities. Examples of long-term illnesses/disabilities include, but are not limited to, conditions which affect vision, hearing, mobility and/or mental health.

⁴¹ DLA/PIP are benefits designed to offset some of the extra costs associated with long term ill-health or disability and are not means-tested with regard to income which means DLA/PIP recipients tend to have higher incomes compared to other households in receipt of means-tested benefits.

⁴² Note that fuel poor figures may not align with the published fuel poverty statistics as the figures shown measure fuel poverty before WHD.

⁴³ Including Attendance Allowance (AA) as a disability benefit would reduce this to 55% but this does not include those eligible for a WHD rebate via the PCGC eligibility for Core Group 1. Since AA is a pension age benefit, the majority of WHD rebates going to AA recipients would be via Core Group 1.

evidence to suggest households with a disability have higher heating costs than average⁴⁴ ⁴⁵ but there are not household level data available that would allow us to factor this into our analysis to target those with the highest heating costs. Although we can identify households in receipt of a disability benefit from DWP data, not all these households will necessarily incur higher heating costs. Therefore, given the relatively low fuel poverty rates of those not in receipt of qualifying benefits (see paragraph 67), targeting the whole group would not improve the fuel poverty targeting of the scheme.

70. In recognition that some people with disabilities may, as a result of their disability, require more hours of heating or higher temperatures, and in response to feedback to the consultation from energy suppliers, Government has decided that the best approach is for energy suppliers to support these customers through Industry Initiatives. In order to monitor that there is sufficient support available, energy suppliers will be obliged to report to Ofgem the estimated value and proportion of their Industry Initiatives spending that supports households where someone has a disability or significant health problems. Government will review this reporting and revisit whether to provide directed support for disabled customers. The Government will also continue to work with interested industry partners and third-party organisations to develop an Industry Initiatives measure providing direct support for people with disabilities and significant health conditions, subject to sufficient interest from energy suppliers. More details can be found in the accompanying Government response to the consultation.

Costs and Benefits

- 71. The costs and benefits in this section present both normal and equity weighted Net Present Values (NPVs) of the scheme. The objective of WHD is the redistribution of income to low income households, to provide support to households who cannot afford to heat their home sufficiently. The cost of the energy bill rebate is spread across all bill payers in England and Wales who are with an obligated energy supplier (99% of households were estimated to be with an obligated supplier in August 2021⁴⁶;- see section 8 for further details). The benefits to recipients of the WHD typically go to households in lower income decile groups (see Figure 3). Equity weighting is appropriate as it quantifies higher marginal benefits of additional income to lower income groups in contrast to lower marginal reductions in utility to high income groups.
- 72. The equity-weighted values reflect income transfers across different income deciles arising from:
 - The equity weighted value of reduced bills affecting households in receipt of a WHD rebate (it is assumed 41%⁴⁷ of the rebate contributes to the household energy bill).
 - The equity weighted value of increased income achieved from an energy bill rebate (it is assumed the remaining 59% of the rebate is used to subsidise income expenditure)
 - The equity weighted value of increased bills affecting all household customers of obligated suppliers.

⁴⁴ https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/out-in-the-cold/

⁴⁵ The Energy Follow Up Survey found that on average, households with someone who was long-term sick or disabled heated for an hour longer per day than households without. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-follow-up-survey-efus-2017-reports</u>

⁴⁶ This uses the latest data available from Ofgem at time of writing. However, due to the recent volatility in energy markets this figure may have changed.

⁴⁷ This is known as the "Labelling Effect", see the assumptions section for more details.

The distributional weightings used to calculate equity weighted NPVs are listed in Table 17.

- 73. Carbon emissions and air quality costs arising from changes in energy consumption are included as costs and benefits. The cost of WHD is added to households' energy bills which reduces household energy demand slightly, leading to lower energy consumption and subsequent emissions. Households in receipt of WHD are expected to increase their energy consumption leading to higher emissions.
- 74. The NPVs present central estimates and these are sensitive to the actual income groups who receive the WHD rebate. A sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions has been undertaken in section 9.

		Policy Option 1	Policy Option 2	Policy Option 3
	Description	No Reform	Reform	Reform with additional spending
	Equity weighted value of rebate (excluding the			
	impact of the Industry Initiatives)	1,460	1,590	2,380
	Increase in equity weighted comfort taking	1,010	1,100	1,650
Benefits	Industry Initiatives excluding debt relief	140	140	140
	Reduction in resource, carbon and air quality			
	costs combined due to bill increase	8	8	11
	Total benefits	2,620	2,840	4,180
	Equity weighted value of bill increase	-1,870	-1,840	-2,530
	Of which: administrative costs to industry*	-37	-18	-26
	Reduction in utility from lower energy			
	consumption (billpayers)	-13	-13	-17
Costs	Resource costs	-220	-220	-310
	Carbon costs	-270	-270	-390
	Air quality costs	-16	-16	-23
	Administrative costs to Government	-7	-15	-22
	Total costs	-2,390	-2,370	-3,290
NPV	Total NPV (£m)	220	460	880
Figures ma	ay not add up due to rounding (figures are shown ro	ounded to the ne	arest £m for tho	ose <£100m,

Table 8: Equity weighted monetised and non-monetised costs and benefits of each option (including administrative burden)

Figures may not add up due to rounding (figures are shown rounded to the nearest £m for those <£100m, otherwise to the nearest £10m).

Based on real 2021 prices, and the number of expected recipients in 2022

*Administrative costs to industry are included within the equity weighted value of bill increase

Table 9: Monetised and non-monetised costs and benefits of each option (including administrative burden) without equity weighting

		Policy Option 1	Policy Option 2	Policy Option 3				
	Description	No Reform	Reform	Reform with additional spending				
	Value of rebate (excluding the impact of the							
	Industry Initiatives)	640	640	910				
	Increase in comfort taking	440	440	630				
Benefits	Industry Initiatives excluding debt relief	140	140	140				
	Reduction in resource, carbon and air quality							
	costs combined due to bill increase	8	8	11				
	Total benefits	1,220	1,220	1,680				
	Value of bill increase	-1,260	-1,240	-1,710				
	Of which: administrative costs to							
	industry*	-37	-18	-26				
	Reduction in utility from lower energy							
	consumption (billpayers)	-7	-7	-10				
Costs	Resource costs	-220	-220	-310				
	Carbon costs	-270	-270	-390				
	Air quality costs	-16	-16	-23				
	Administrative costs to Government	-7	-15	-22				
	Total costs	-1,780	-1,770	-2,460				
NPV	Total NPV (£m)	-560	-550	-780				
Figures may not add up due to rounding (figures are shown rounded to the nearest £m for those <£100m,								
otherwise	to the nearest £10m).							
Based on	real 2021 prices, and the number of expected recipie	ents in 2022						
*Adminis	*Administrative costs to industry are included within the value of the bill increase							

- 75. Figure 4 illustrates the extent to which income transfers flow into and out of different income deciles. WHD targets support for low income households, meaning that the policy leads to positive distributional outcomes. The positive distributional effect of the policy arises because costs are spread across bill-payers with participating suppliers, whilst the distribution of bill reductions (through WHD rebates) is heavily concentrated among lower income groups.
- 76. Figure 4 also shows that some rebates are delivered to households in the higher income deciles. In the absence of income data for every household in Great Britain, a set of means-tested benefits is used as a proxy to determine which households are likely to be low income and vulnerable to fuel poverty. However, some households with relatively high incomes receive some of these benefits, thereby making them eligible for the rebate. Nevertheless, the majority of rebate recipients have below median incomes.





7. Equalities Assessment

- 77. The Public Sector Equality Duty (the 'Duty') is a statutory requirement imposed by section 149 of the Equality Act 2010⁴⁸. In broad terms, the Duty requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Advancing equality of opportunity includes having due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a protected characteristic and encouraging their participation in activities where their participation is disproportionately low. The following relevant protected characteristics are set out under the Duty:
 - age
 - disability
 - gender reassignment
 - marriage or civil partnership
 - pregnancy and maternity
 - race
 - religion or belief
 - sex
 - sexual orientation
- 78. The government has considered whether any of the above groups might be adversely or positively impacted by this policy in different ways and this has been assessed below. Equality analysis of rebate distribution by protected characteristic is presented but limited to those characteristics captured by the English Housing Survey 2017-18 and Fuel Poverty Dataset 2018. The government will explore ways to utilise more information in the future to analyse equalities impacts (discussed in more detail in paragraph 134).
- 79. To represent both England and Wales in these figures, total figures have been uplifted based on the number of households in England and Wales. Due to limitations in the survey, these variables may not fully represent the true proportion of each group in the total population and in rebate-receiving groups. The tables, below, show the distribution of WHD rebates for each policy option. These figures are compared with the fuel poor population (as this is the intended target group for the policy) as well as the overall population for England and Wales.
- 80. Table 10 suggests that under all policy options a greater proportion of rebates will go to households where the household representative is female compared to male (a household representative is the person who responded to the survey). The ability to determine who within the household is female or male depends on who participated in the survey and therefore it is difficult to ascertain the impact of the policy options on the different sexes. The statistics suggest options 2 and 3 target a greater share of male-headed households than option 1, and are more closely aligned to the overall fuel poor population, however, this is a consequence of targeting more working age couples with children who have a male recorded as the household representative.

⁴⁸ https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance

Table 10: Distribution of sex across WHD recipients and population

	Policy option 1	Policy option 2	Policy option 3 Reform with additional	Proportion of fuel poor households in	Proportion of households in
Carr	No Reform	Reform	spending	England & Wales	England & Wales
Sex	(n=2m)	(n=2m)	(n=2.8m)	(n=4m)	(n=24.8m)
Male	41%	48%	45%	53%	58%
Female	59%	52%	55%	47%	42%
Defined b	v the given sex	of the house	old representativ	re	

Source: Analysis of the English Housing Survey 2017/18 and Fuel Poverty dataset 2018

81. Table 11 suggests that under the preferred option 3, the distribution of WHD rebates to ethnic groups is broadly in line with ethnic groups across the fuel poor population, with a higher proportion of white single households (and lower proportion of white couples) receiving rebates than their share of the fuel poor population. However, the distribution is more closely aligned with the overall fuel poor population than option 1.

Table 11: Distribution of ethnicity across WHD recipients and population

Household ethnicity	Policy option 1 No Reform (n=2m)	Policy option 2 Reform (n=2m)	Policy option 3 Reform with additional spending (n=2.8m)	Proportion of fuel poor households in England & Wales (n=4m)	Proportion of households in England & Wales (n=24.8m)
White single	62%	53%	54%	43%	37%
Ethnic minority single	9%	8%	7%	8%	5%
Mixed couple	1%	2%	2%	3%	3%
Ethnic minority couple	4%	10%	9%	9%	5%
White couple	24%	28%	28%	36%	50%

Where mixed couple represents a household with a white/ethnic minority household representative with an ethnic minority/white partner.

White single/ethnic minority single represents a single householder in a property who is either of white ethnicity or an ethnic minority.

White/ethnic minority couple relates to a household where both the representative and partner are white/an ethnic minority.

Source: Analysis of the English Housing Survey 2017/18 and Fuel Poverty dataset 2018

82. When the data is aggregated to singles and couples (note couples will include unmarried cohabiting partners therefore is only a proxy for the married/civil partnership characteristic), Table 12 shows that a higher proportion of couples will receive the rebate under the preferred reform option 3. This is more closely aligned with the distribution of fuel poor households between single/couples, and the overall population.

Table 12: Distribution of single households and couples across WHD recipients and population

Relationship status of household representative	Policy option 1 No Reform (n=2m)	Policy option 2 Reform (n=2m)	Policy option 3 Reform with additional spending (n=2.8m)	Proportion of fuel poor households in England & Wales (n=4m)	Proportion of households in England & Wales (n=24.8m)
Single	70%	61%	61%	52%	42%
Couple	30%	39%	39%	48%	58%

Source: Analysis of the English Housing Survey 2017/18 and Fuel Poverty dataset 2018

83. Table 13 shows there are a greater proportion of WHD recipient households with a disabled person(s) than the fuel poor population and the overall population. However, as many disabled households are not fuel poor, a large proportion of households who previously received the WHD rebate may become ineligible as a result of the reform which includes more emphasis on high energy costs. This is reflected in the reduced number of disabled households receiving a rebate under the reform options 2 and 3 but still shows a higher proportion in receipt (54%) compared to the national average (35%). The impact on households with a disability was discussed in more detail in section 6 as well as the introduction of an obligation for energy suppliers to report the estimated value and proportion of their Industry Initiatives spending that supports customers with a disability or significant health problems. This will enable Government to review the support received by disabled customers and, if insufficient, revisit whether to mandate support in future.

Table 13: Distribution of households with disabilities across WHD recipients and population

Long term illness or disability*	Policy option 1 No Reform (n=2m)	Policy option 2 Reform (n=2m)	Policy option 3 Reform with additional spending (n=2.8m)	Proportion of fuel poor households in England & Wales (n=4m)	Proportion of households in England & Wales (n=24.8m)		
Yes	68%	54%	54%	47%	35%		
No	32%	46%	46%	53%	65%		
*A household that contains someone with a long-term illness/disability that states their condition reduces their							

ability to carry out day-to-day activities. Examples of long-term illnesses/disabilities include, but are not limited to, conditions which affect vision, hearing, mobility and/or mental health.

Source: Analysis of the English Housing Survey 2017/18 and Fuel Poverty dataset 2018

84. Overall, Government does not expect the WHD scheme to discriminate negatively based on the protected characteristics that we have been able to analyse, and therefore does not contribute to any pre-existing discrimination structure. We recognise that the current Core Group eligibility, for those in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit, will have a positive impact for those households with older members (age is one of the protected characteristics). For the other protected characteristics where we have data available, our analysis does not indicate we would be introducing any discrimination under the preferred policy option. When compared to the current scheme (option 1), the estimated distribution of rebates for the preferred policy option (option 3) is more closely aligned with both the fuel poor population and the overall population in England and Wales for sex, ethnicity, single/couples and disability.

8. Small and Micro Business Impact Assessment

- 85. The cost of WHD is a direct cost to business that is recovered by levying the cost of the obligation onto household energy bills. In 2011, the original supplier obligation threshold was set at 250,000 customer accounts, aiming to reduce the barriers to entry caused by the administration costs of the scheme and encourage new entrants in a market where the largest six suppliers had approximately 99% of the market share. Under the reform options, suppliers' administrative costs are expected to decrease due to data matching.
- 86. In December 2020 approximately 99% of households were with one of the 22 obligated suppliers. There were 53 active suppliers in the market⁴⁹. Retail energy customers who might benefit from the WHD scheme are not in contention if their energy supplier is not obligated.
- 87. The supplier obligation threshold creates an uneven playing field for suppliers, potentially allowing small unobligated suppliers to obtain a cost advantage and price more competitively. Under WHD reform, increasing obligation to both Core Groups and Industry Initiatives will level this playing field, whilst introducing data-matching to Core Group 2 should help to reduce the administrative costs to suppliers of the overall WHD scheme.

Impacts of reducing the threshold on suppliers

- 88. For the 2021/22 scheme year, the supplier obligation threshold is set at 150,000 (across Great Britain). Under the reform the supplier threshold will fall from 150,000 to 50,000 in the first year of the reformed scheme (2022/23). The obligation threshold is not being reduced to zero because this carries the risk of creating a barrier to entry since a new supplier may incur disproportionate administrative burden of setting up and administering the WHD rebate in time.
- 89. Customer accounts by supplier figures are updated annually by Ofgem and the latest correspond to December 2020. Government is using monthly domestic meter point data from Ofgem to get a more recent snapshot of the market. However, the latest available data corresponds to August 2021, before the recent volatility in the energy market. Government has not attempted to predict the market composition at the start of the WHD scheme year, with figures intended to be indicative.
- 90. According to data from August 2021, four suppliers would be affected by a supplier obligation threshold reduction from 150,000 to 50,000 customer accounts (see Table 14). These suppliers hold around 350,000 customer accounts, some of whom will be eligible for the WHD. The current threshold of 150,000 means that 98.8% of the market would be obligated to provide the WHD to customers who are eligible under the reform, increasing to 99.5% when the threshold reduces to 50,000. These impacts are broadly unchanged from the consultation stage Impact Assessment which used the customer numbers by supplier data as at December 2020. Several suppliers have exited the market since this August 2021 snapshot was captured so the real impacts are likely to have changed (fewer smaller suppliers are likely to be affected) and could change again before the start of the WHD scheme year. As with the original scheme, suppliers will contribute a proportionate cost in line with their market share, with any suppliers overspending on rebates being able to recoup these costs via reconciliation.

⁴⁹ BEIS, Warm Home Discount scheme, consultation stage Impact Assessment, Section 8, Table 13 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/warm-home-discount-better-targeted-support-from-2022

Table 14: No. of suppliers by domestic gas and electricity meter points, GB

Meter points	Number of suppliers with meter points equal to/above the threshold	Number of additional obligated suppliers	Number of meter points held by newly obligated suppliers	Market share of those obligated
150,000	23	-	-	98.79%
100,000	24	1	120,000	99.02%
50,000	27	4	350,000	99.45%
25,000	30	7	470,000	99.68%
20,000	31	8	490,000	99.72%
15,000	33	10	520,000	99.78%
10,000	38	15	590,000	99.90%
5,000	44	21	640,000	99.99%
1,000	45	22	640,000	100.00%
1	52	29	640,000	100.00%

Source: Ofgem, based on number of meter points provided by network operators as at August 2021 Number of meter points held by newly obligated suppliers rounded to 2 significant figures

- 91. The Government expects the costs of data matching/automatic rebate distribution to the Core Group 2 to be significantly lower than manual distribution under the no reform option where potential recipients currently contact their energy supplier to make a claim. As part of the consultation on the WHD extension for Scheme Year 11 (2021/22), BEIS asked energy suppliers to provide data on the administrative costs they incurred as a result of meeting their obligation in Scheme Year 9 (2019/20). These data indicate that Broader Group (excluding Industry Initiatives) costs made up around 70% of the estimated total scheme costs, with the Core Group costs making up around 20%. In a previous impact assessment for the threshold reduction from 250,000 to 150,000 customer accounts, Government estimated an annual cost of around £4,000/year for each newly obligated supplier⁵⁰. This cost burden will increase with the addition of Core Group 1 and Core Group 2 but is expected to be significantly lower than the cost of manual administration of the original Broader Group, as search costs for eligible recipients will be transferred towards Government.
- 92. From April 2023 onwards, Government will reduce the supplier obligation threshold to 1,000 customer accounts. This staged approach means that smaller energy suppliers would have sufficient time to prepare and adapt their tariffs to consider the obligation, reducing the risk of non-compliance.
- 93. The staged reduction of the threshold in England and Wales is partly enabled by the reduction in suppliers' administrative costs due to the expansion of data matching and automatic identification of most of the eligible households. The UK Government will consult on introducing a separate scheme in Scotland from 2022 onwards, including which energy suppliers will be obligated.

⁵⁰ BEIS, Warm Home Discount Scheme 2018/19: Final stage impact assessment, Table A3.2: Costs to industry; Estimated costs per newly obligated supplier, Paragraph 164, <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/warm-home-discount-scheme-2018-to-2019</u>

Consumer impacts of reducing the threshold

- 94. For consumers receiving the WHD, the threshold currently disincentivises switching to an unobligated supplier, as those who are eligible would have to judge whether switching to a tariff from an unobligated supplier would offset the loss of WHD, which may create confusion. In 2019, Ofgem found that despite the overall switching rate increasing over time, those who received the WHD were the least likely of all customer groups to engage in the energy market⁵¹. Government believes that all consumers should benefit from good value and innovative deals and not face additional barriers to engaging with the energy market. Reducing the obligation threshold encourages rebate recipients to participate in the energy market as more suppliers are participating in the WHD scheme.
- 95. There are potential benefits to consumers from competition on a level playing field. For example, competition is likely to cause prices to fall to those of the lower cost suppliers. However, the scale of this is difficult to assess.

⁵¹ Ofgem, Consumer Engagement Survey 2019, Slide 34, <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/consumer-survey-2019</u>

9. Risks, Assumptions and Sensitivities

9.1. Risks

Regression approach to predicting high cost

- 96. The risk of a regression approach to predicting energy costs of a home may lead to rebates paid to households who are not in fact genuinely high cost (false positives) and other homes that are genuinely high cost not receiving them (false negatives). The current approach of distributing WHD rebates based solely on proxies to income level using means-tested benefits already leads to false negatives and false positives, in that households with low heating bills could themselves receive rebates in place of homes with higher costs. Further compounding this issue is the current Broader Group rebate that is currently distributed on a first come first served basis. Introducing a high cost criterion and distributing the rebate automatically helps address these issues.
- 97. The high cost criteria will never perfectly predict energy costs, but the government is taking this approach owing to the capability to improve fuel poverty targeting and its simplicity to administer. There will be cases where a household is genuinely facing higher heating costs than that predicted by the model, which is a consequence of the incomplete data available. This will lead to differences between observed and predicted energy costs, but these differences should be relatively small in most cases. Using the model on the test data (the English Housing Survey) indicates that it predicts more than 4 in 5 households' energy costs within 25% of their actual costs.
- 98. Removing the high cost criteria used in the regression model would mean all households on a low income would compete with one another on a first come, first served basis, as in the current scheme. The high cost criteria is therefore providing a means to prioritise those most likely to be at risk of fuel poverty.
- 99. We should also note that the relationship between household energy costs and property characteristics (i.e. the regression coefficients) is estimated based on data for households in England only. If there is a systematic difference between this relationship in Wales compared to England then there is the risk of coverage bias, that is, we could be predicting energy costs for households in Wales using a relationship that is not appropriate.

Risk of challenge based on data inaccuracies

- 100. In the event that the regression model and data matching process for Core Group 2 does not identify households who genuinely have energy costs higher than the 'high cost threshold' (false negatives), there is the risk that these households could challenge the fact that they have not been allocated a rebate. One way this false negative could occur is through inaccuracies in the VOA data on property characteristics, and most likely from the floor area (property age and type are much more likely to be accurate).
- 101. To mitigate some of the risk of inaccuracies in floor area we use 'floor area bands' in predicting energy costs. If a property has an increase in floor area (e.g. due to an extension) since the VOA data was recorded, the property could retain the same floor area band used in our modelling. Therefore, this property would have the same predicted energy costs. For those properties that have had a large enough change in floor area to move them up one (or more) floor area bands, the householder would be able to challenge the WHD rebate allocation. The challenge process is outlined in the Consultation document. Successful, eligible challengers would be issued with a rebate.

We expect challenges based on floor area to only be a small number of cases but cannot provide a specific figure due to a lack of evidence. We do not have evidence on the numbers (and size) of extensions carried out in properties occupied by the Core Group 2 eligible pool; this is not in the VOA data.

Eligible pool size

- 102. The Core Group sizes are initially determined by households in receipt of the benefits listed in Table 2. The Core Group 2 is then ranked by predicted energy costs and a cut off point or energy cost threshold is chosen so that all of the remaining budget⁵² (after those in receipt of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit and Industry Initiatives are deducted) is spent.
- 103. Industry Initiatives will act as a buffer so that, if either Core Group increases in size, suppliers may spend less on Industry Initiatives to avoid breaching the spending envelope. The Government's current preference is to keep the high cost threshold fixed for the duration of the scheme, to avoid households becoming eligible or losing their eligibility from changes in the amount of predicted energy costs, and allow Industry Initiatives spend to vary (within a cap). Changes in the size of the eligible pool arising from different household types moving in and out of benefits are expected to be absorbed by Industry Initiatives. If, however, a situation arises in which the Industry Initiatives budget is not enough to absorb additional rebates then the Government may consider intervening by adjusting the high cost threshold accordingly.
- 104. Some flexibility in Industry Initiatives spending will be allowed between years (carry-over and carry-under) to help supporting organisations manage a degree of fluctuation in spending across scheme years.
- 105. The preferred options 2 and 3 propose excluding DLA/PIP recipients as a qualifying group for Core Group 2 eligibility since DLA/PIP payments are not means-tested on income. Those DLA recipients who are low income are likely to be in receipt of other qualifying low-income benefits. However, if ways to incorporate income tests could be found then we could consider applying this to the scheme in future, including targeting those not in receipt of benefits.

Covid-19

106. The economic impacts of the coronavirus pandemic have increased unemployment, leading to an increase in Universal Credit claimants⁵³, therefore increasing the number of households eligible for the current Broader Group WHD rebate and the proposed Core Group 2. However, estimating the impact this would have on the number of households eligible for the WHD for the four years of the scheme (2022/23-2025/26), and particularly how this could change the demographics of recipients, is challenging given the uncertainty around the long-term impact of Covid-19.

⁵² When setting the energy cost threshold, we will also take into account of the expected data 'match rate' (i.e. how many eligible customers are identified and matched to energy suppliers' customer records), therefore setting the threshold such that providing rebates to the expected number of 'matched' customers would reach the target spend envelope.

⁵³There were 4.9 million households on Universal Credit in October 2021. This is an increase of 2.2 million since March 2020 (the start of the Covid-19 pandemic). <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/universal-credit-statistics-29-april-2013-to-14-october-2021/universal</u>

107. The existence of the WHD will be even more important, to provide support to these vulnerable households, prioritising those on low incomes and with the highest energy costs. The increased spending envelope will extend the reach of the scheme and reduce energy bills for at least some of those struggling with the long-term impacts of the pandemic.

9.2. Assumptions

English Housing Survey and Fuel Poverty Dataset

108. The modelling used in this Impact Assessment to determine which households received the rebate was based on the English Housing Survey (2017/18) and Fuel Poverty dataset (2018). As this scheme is designed for England and Wales, the results shown in this impact assessment have been upscaled. However, as modelling is based on an England-only survey, the demographic, fuel poverty and rebate distribution may differ to the actual characteristics for Wales.

Carbon Values

109. The NPV estimates in this Impact Assessment are based on central carbon values from the Green Book supplementary guidance⁵⁴. The carbon values have been updated since the consultation IA and are higher than previously, which has reduced the NPV of all the WHD policy options. The sensitivity analysis in Section 9 shows the combined effects of testing different input assumptions.

Health Impacts

110. A previous WHD evaluation⁵⁵ found a small increase in the temperature of properties in receipt of the rebate and concluded it is likely to have led to health improvements amongst WHD recipients. However, it is difficult to monetise the health benefits attributable to the WHD of any temperature increases and therefore these have not been monetised. Therefore, this is likely to underestimate the NPV of the scheme.

Labelling Effect

111. Previous WHD Impact Assessments assumed that 41% of the total WHD rebate is spent on improving the thermal comfort of the recipients' homes. This is based on research for the Winter Fuel Payment which showed that labelled transfers (e.g., the label "Winter Fuel Payment") led to a higher proportion of the transfer being spent on fuel use than would typically be expected for a non-labelled transfer⁵⁶. The WHD evaluation's findings regarding the labelling effect are mixed and do not offer conclusive results so the 41% assumption has been retained and is consistent with other Impact Assessments.

Core Group Coverage

112. The assumed size of Core Group 1 is based on the figure used by DWP in the latest Core Group Live Run (for the 2021/22 WHD scheme), adjusted for 2022 using the trend in forecast projections⁵⁷ of Pension Credit Guarantee Credit claimants, which take

⁵⁴ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuation-of-energy-use-and-greenhouse-gas-emissions-for-appraisal</u>

⁵⁵ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/warm-home-discount-evaluation-2010-to-2015</u>

⁵⁶ Beatty, Blow, Crossley& O'Dea (2011). Cash by any other name? Evidence on Labelling from the UK Winter Fuel Payment, IFS Working Paper 11/10, available at: <u>http://www.ifs.org.uk/wps/wp1110.pdf</u>

⁵⁷Benefit expenditure and caseload tables 2020, Outturn and Forecast Autumn Budget 2020:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2020

account of retirement ages and attrition. The size of Core group 1 will determine the size of Core Group 2 in the first year of the reformed scheme and hence impacts on which household types are in contention for a rebate. The size of the Core Groups and impact on the WHD budget are discussed in the risks section.

Scotland apportionment

113. In accordance with the consultation proposals, we have apportioned 9.4% of the total spending envelope for GB to Scotland, based on the proportion of electricity and gas meters in Scotland compared to the total in GB (a three-year average using data from 2017-2019)⁵⁸.

Fuel poverty indicator

114. The fuel poverty definition used for this Impact Assessment is LILEE (see paragraph 14). The size of the fuel poor population quoted in this document may not match published statistics as we have calculated baseline fuel poverty based on income and FPEER bands before the inclusion of the WHD, so that the impact of the WHD can be observed for the different policy options.

Administration costs to industry

- 115. For the 'No reform' option, we estimate the total industry administration costs to be approximately £10m per year, using data provided by energy suppliers as part of the consultation of the WHD extension for Scheme Year 11 (2021/22)⁵⁹. This was based on the administration costs incurred by suppliers to meet their obligation in Scheme Year 9 (2019/20)⁶⁰. Most suppliers also provided a breakdown of costs between the Core Group and Broader Group, which indicated that the Broader Group was significantly more expensive to administer.
- 116. We expect that under the reform options (2 and 3), the new 'Core Group 2' will be cheaper for suppliers to administer than the current manual allocation of rebates for the Broader Group and expect the costs to be more in line with those that suppliers currently face for the Core Group (given the similarities in data matching/automatic rebate distribution). Therefore, for option 2 (reform with current spending) and 3 (reform with additional spending), we have been guided by the current Core Group costs and derived an assumption that industry administration costs will be approximately 50% and 70% of the current scheme (no reform) respectively. The latter is slightly higher due to the increased spend requiring more rebates to be distributed and hence we would expect some increase in processing costs.

Administration costs to Government

117. For the current WHD scheme, the Government bear some of the administrative costs of delivering the rebates, especially with respect to data matching activities for delivering Core Group rebates (including the sweep-up and helpline elements of the

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/warm-home-discount-scheme-2021-to-2022

⁵⁸ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sub-national-electricity-consumption-data</u> and https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sub-national-gas-consumption-data

⁵⁹ This estimate was used in the final stage Impact Assessment for the 2021/22 WHD extension:

⁶⁰ Although these estimates were provided in relation to the scheme covering Great Britain as a whole, we have made a simplifying assumption that these will also apply to England and Wales rather than attempt to apportion them.

process that are overseen by DWP). This is estimated at ~22m for the no reform option in this IA, based on actual costs from previous years⁶¹.

118. For reform options 2 and 3, both Core Group 1 and Core Group 2 will be administered in a similar way to the current Core Group, therefore we have used the current Government admin spend to extrapolate estimates for the reform options. Using a simplifying assumption that most current costs are to administer the Core Group (as opposed to the Broader Group) and that the costs will scale proportionally with the number of rebates being delivered. Since the "Core Group"-style rebates roughly double under option 2 and triple under option 3 (compared to the current scheme), we have assumed the Government admin costs would also scale in this way. This also allows some headroom for the increase in costs due to the reduction in supplier threshold and more suppliers being obligated to participate in the scheme.

Income elasticity

119. Income elasticity is used to measure the change in energy demand because of a change in income, and the income elasticities used are based on a study by Jamasb and Meier (2010)⁶². Income elasticity influences the changes in consumption and therefore resources, emissions and air quality, where billpayers are overall expected to make small changes to their energy consumption and low income recipients of WHD are expected to increase their energy consumption at a greater rate than billpayers. This causes a net increase in energy consumption.

Monetising the benefits of debt relief

120. Around half of debt relief (within Industry Initiatives) has been estimated to benefit households, because of the individual debt cap. We assume that energy suppliers would have provided debt relief to households even without the WHD scheme, such as those with very large debts and unlikely to pay off the debt. The individual debt relief cap ensures that debt relief will go to more households, who may be struggling with shorter term or smaller debts. Therefore, we assume that half of debt relief spend will be realised as a benefit.

9.3. Sensitivities of key assumptions

- 121. Given the uncertainty around the key assumptions, the following sensitivity analysis has been undertaken:
 - Administration Costs
 - Energy Demand Response
 - Energy Prices and Emissions Cost
 - Combination of all scenarios
- 122. Where possible, the sensitivity analysis is based on scenarios provided alongside the central assumptions. For instance, the authors of the energy price and emissions costs data, and the labelling effect data, provide high and low boundaries for their estimates, which are used in this analysis. However, assumed industry administration costs are based on participating suppliers' estimates, for which high and low boundaries

⁶¹ As for the Industry admin costs, the current scheme costs relate to the scheme covering Great Britain as a whole but we have made a simplifying assumption that these will also apply to England and Wales rather than attempt to apportion them.

⁶² Source: Jamasb and Meier (2010), Household Energy Expenditure and Income Groups: Evidence from Great Britain. https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/229412

were not provided. In the absence of high and low boundaries provided by suppliers, a discretionary high/low margin of 25% is applied.

- 123. The central scenario for the preferred policy option (reform with additional spending) provides an NPV of £880m across the four years of the scheme. The combined high scenarios lead to a 76% reduction in NPV and the combined low scenarios lead to a 61% increase in the NPV. The size of the range is large due to the combined effect of a relatively large uncertainty in labelling effect (15% 66%, with a central assumption of 41% see paragraph 111 for an explanation of the labelling effect), the impact this has on energy usage and the associated emissions, together with the uncertainty in carbon values and energy prices.
- 124. The recent increase in energy prices⁶³ go beyond the assumptions used in Figure 5. If we were to increase the central assumption by ~50% this would still result in a net positive equity weighted NPV, larger than that shown in this sensitivity analysis.
- 125. In order to measure the NPV's sensitivity to variation in the individual assumptions, all other aspects of the policy have been kept constant so that it is possible to isolate the impact of a change in each assumption on the NPV.



Figure 5: Percentage change in NPV from changing assumptions in the analysis

⁶³ Energy price cap rise of 54% in April 2022: <u>https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/price-cap-increase-ps693-april</u>

10. Summary and Preferred Option

- 126. The Government wants to improve targeting of WHD rebates to those most at risk of fuel poverty and increase the number of rebates to provide greater support each Winter.
- 127. The Government's preferred approach is to reform and expand the WHD to reach around 2.8 million households in England and Wales, an increase of 750,000 (Option 3) compared to the number of households receiving a rebate in 2021/22⁶⁴. The Government plans to do this by increasing the overall size of the scheme to £458m from 2022/23 and increase this with inflation throughout the remainder of the 4-year scheme (ending in 2025/26).
- 128. As the scheme is funded by energy suppliers that pass the costs onto their customers, we estimate this will increase the average energy bill by ~£5 per year. However, given other price protection in place, including the energy price cap, the Government believes this is appropriate for providing help to an additional 750,000 households in or at risk of fuel poverty.

 $^{^{64}}$ This accounts for the increase in rebate value from £140 to £150, whereas the impact analysis in section 6 assumes a rebate value of £150 for all policy options.

11. Monitoring and Evaluation

Theory of change

129. Figure 6 shows the strategic objective for the WHD reform and how the anticipated outcomes and impacts of the policy are expected to feed into this.





Previous Evaluation

- 130. An evaluation of WHD was conducted in 2017, covering scheme delivery between 2010 and 2015⁶⁵. The evaluation conducted qualitative research with recipients as well as modelled impact analysis covering energy expenditure and the indoor environment. Key lessons from this evaluation have been applied to develop these proposed reforms, including:
 - The rebate typically alleviated households' electricity usage for several months, releasing cash to be spent elsewhere (such as on gas use for heating or other general expenditure). The scheme's primary objective on "helping to mitigate the burden of rising energy prices on low-income households" was therefore achieved, which supports continuation of the core policy.
 - However, the evaluation concluded that the scheme's population targeting was not optimal for the primary objective on "removing a significant number of households from fuel poverty and improving the thermal comfort and health of assisted households". Core Group eligibility was not found to be a strong indicator of households living in a cold home. Instead, modelling shows that the WHD appeared to target low-income pensioners rather than those in fuel poverty. However, warmth

⁶⁵ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/warm-home-discount-evaluation-2010-to-2015</u>

and health benefits were greater for those living in less energy efficient homes. The proposed reforms amend targeting to include VOA evidence to identify cold homes, following analysis carried out by UCL that found deficiencies with the existing eligibility criteria.

- UCL conducted analysis to determine how well WHD eligibility criteria identified households at risk of living in cold homes. The analysis found that the Core Group eligibility criteria were not strong indicators of households living in cold homes (i.e. <18 °C). This reflected the predominant type of home that those households occupy, i.e. mid-20th century flats in the social rental market. Instead, a stronger predictor of coldness was a measure of the dwelling energy performance, length of residency, household type, dwelling age, presence of a boiler, age of the household reference person, number of people in the home, household income, number of bedrooms, and whether the household reference person is employed.
- 131. This evaluation also captured some lessons on the Monitoring and Evaluation approach itself, including:
 - The qualitative research into recipients' experience of the rebate was limited by opt-in sampling, potential recall issues, and a low sample size. As a result, there was limited generalisability of these findings to the experience of recipients who received the rebate through different suppliers.
 - The quantitative research was based exclusively on theoretical modelling, telling us what effects the rebate *should* have had on recipients, but it was not drawn from empirical data.
 - Both key limitations were a result of budget constraints. Any future evaluation plans would therefore need to consider whether they can add value to the existing evaluation of the current model, and whether the costs to do so are proportionate to the evidence needs of this scheme and any planned successors.

No further lessons on the Monitoring and Evaluation approach were captured during the consultation.

132. The WHD Theory of Change has not substantially changed for the reform, the consultation did not reveal major new evaluation questions of interest, and the current scheme has a substantial and recent evaluation. On this basis, BEIS has decided that conducting an additional impact evaluation would not be proportionate. Instead, BEIS will target key evidence gaps on delivery under the reforms by conducting a process evaluation tailored to the needs of policy makers. This will be supplemented by an expansion to monitoring requirements, ensuring that sufficient and timely information on delivery is publicly available. Both Monitoring and Evaluation approaches are described below.

Monitoring

133. Ofgem produces annual reports on delivery of the current WHD scheme using their existing Management Information data, covering which suppliers are obligated to provide rebates; schemes approved for Industry Initiatives; and numbers of rebate recipients. BEIS has judged that a continuation of these reports will meet core policy maker monitoring needs for the reformed scheme. BEIS intends to supplement these reports with the annual publication of Official Statistics. The following paragraph provides more details.

- 134. The delivery of the WHD rebate under the proposed reform requires energy companies to undertake more data matching than currently takes place to confirm eligibility. The Government will use powers under the Digital Economy Act 2017 to analyse DWP and helpline data⁶⁶ for a more detailed assessment of the characteristics of households receiving a rebate. Subject to receiving data in a suitable format, BEIS statisticians would analyse this data to provide additional detail on the geographic, demographic and benefits status distribution of WHD recipients at an aggregate level. This will provide a timely evidence base for further BEIS policy development. A primary focus of obtaining these data will be to understand the demographics of the people reached, including PSED coverage (such as disability).
- 135. In addition, BEIS will monitor the total spend in each year of the reformed scheme. If there are large overspends or underspends on rebates, we may adjust either the Industry Initiative budget or, if the overspends or underspends are too large or occur consistently, the high cost threshold (as mentioned in paragraphs 45 and 51).
- 136. The above monitoring and reporting framework for the reformed WHD is summarised below in Table 15:

Product	Source	Purpose	Published?	Responsible Owner
Warm Home Discount Annual Report	WHD management information data	Core Ofgem and BEIS monitoring; transparency; overview of delivery	Yes	Ofgem
Warm Home Discount Annual Official Statistics	DWP scheme administration data; rebate helpline data; WHD management information data	More timely monitoring on selected characteristics; understanding who has been reached; iterating delivery design.	Yes	BEIS
Warm Home Discount Spending Analysis	WHD management information data	BEIS assesses spend by budget by year; take corrective action on thresholds if required	No	BEIS

Table 15: WHD Reform Monitoring and reporting framework summary

Evaluation

137. Based on the consultation response and review of evidence needs BEIS has decided it is necessary and proportionate to externally commission a process evaluation of the reformed WHD, procured via Invitation to Tender (ITT). Procurement and contract

⁶⁶ Subject to rules around data protection.

management of this research will be owned by BEIS's Buildings Energy Evaluation team. The process evaluation will be published, to ensure transparency, in line with the Government Social Research protocol.

- 138. This process evaluation will include new primary research with beneficiaries, and will analyse this alongside existing Ofgem and BEIS scheme data. It will examine all processes and stakeholder experiences involved in delivering funding to beneficiaries in all variants of WHD, and compare these to equivalent findings from the previous 2018 evaluation. Particular attention will be given to differentiating the experiences of beneficiaries with different personal characteristics such as age, ethnicity and disability status.
- 139. Evaluation questions will be finalised upon successful recruitment. Expected questions are set out below in Table 16. Most of these are concerning the characteristics of beneficiaries, but some are focused on the implementation of the scheme, and questions have been organised accordingly. An explanation has been provided for each about why it needs to be addressed via the evaluation and cannot be answered using the administrative data.

	Analytical Focus		
Evaluation Question	Beneficiaries	Scheme Implementation	Rationale for evaluation
How prevalent is fuel poverty amongst Core Group 1 and Core Group 2 rebate recipients?	х		We will not know whether someone is fuel poor via monitoring data. Will need to collect via evaluation.
How does income vary among Core Group 2 rebate recipients?	х		Household income is not part of the available monitoring data.
What are the demographic characteristics of rebate recipients in Core Group 2?	Х		We will have some information on this in the monitoring dataset but can gather more in-depth information via a participant survey.
Do these characteristics match modelled fuel poverty rates or are there any groups who are systematically underrepresented in Core Group 2?	Х		We will have some information on this in the monitoring dataset but can gather more in-depth information via a participant survey.
How effective and accessible is the helpline for people challenging the Core Group 2 decisions?	Х	Х	This information will not be collected via monitoring data and will provide valuable insights on the effectiveness of the helpline and any required changes.

Table 16: Example WHD evaluation questions and rationale for inclusion

	Analytical Focus		
Evaluation Question	Beneficiaries	Scheme Implementation	Rationale for evaluation
What Industry Initiatives measures did households receive and what was the impact of Industry Initiatives on households' financial situations?	Х	Х	We are interested in in-depth information on the types of measures households received and the varied impacts. This cannot be obtained from administrative data.
Have households who have received help under the Industry Initiatives changed the way they use energy, and if so how?	х		Changes in household energy usage habits cannot be discerned from available monitoring data.
What is the geographical distribution of Industry Initiative support across England and Wales? ⁶⁷	х		Industry Initiative support is not part of the available monitoring data.
Is there sufficient capacity to deliver Industry Initiatives in- house or with third party organisations?		Х	This cannot be understood from administrative data. Survey and qualitative evidence is required from suppliers.
For energy suppliers, how does the administration of the Core Group 2 compare with the current Broader Group?		х	This cannot be understood from administrative data. Survey and qualitative evidence is required from suppliers.
For energy suppliers, how effectively are they able to support their fuel poor customers through Industry Initiative measures?	Х	Х	This cannot be understood from administrative data. Survey and qualitative evidence is required from suppliers.

- 140. The final evaluation design to address these questions is subject to the methodology specified in the winning bid, and all bids that sufficiently address these research questions will be considered. A suitable methodology might include:
 - A one-off representative survey of the beneficiary population at least one year into delivery, employing a digital-first approach with phone interviews available for the digitally excluded.

⁶⁷ Comparisons will be made at the micro level (e.g. between rural/urban areas) to determine the extent to which receipt of rebates varies by geographical location across England and Wales.

- Around 75-100 purposively-sampled depth interviews with beneficiaries of different scheme variants, and with different household characteristics, with follow-up questions targeted at gaps and emerging findings from the survey.
- 15-20 purposively-sampled depth interviews with a range of suppliers to explore issues related to scheme delivery.
- 141. If required to support the collection of primary evidence, BEIS will explore data sharing procedures that, subject to data protection rules, support recontact of recipients by BEIS, its contractors or stakeholders specifically for the purposes of evaluation.
- 142. The impact of WHD is closely related to the impact of other fuel poverty schemes such as Energy Company Obligation. Independently of the process evaluation, BEIS will review whether it is appropriate and proportionate to consider externally commissioning a cross cutting fuel poverty impact evaluation for the domestic energy efficiency policy portfolio, allowing the impact of individual or combined policy interventions on energy use and health outcomes for different types of beneficiary to be assessed, and how this has changed before and after the reforms. Procurement and contract management of this research would be owned by BEIS's Buildings Energy Evaluation team.

Budget and resourcing

143. The proposed monitoring approach would not require additional funding (beyond existing Ofgem provisions) to deliver but will require 1 FTE in the Energy Statistics team in BEIS in the set-up phase before reducing to around 0.3 FTE in the longer term. BEIS estimates that a robust process evaluation of the type outlined above should cost in the region of £300,000-£500,000 depending on the depth and scale of analysis and will require 0.2 FTE SEO in the Buildings Energy Evaluation team in BEIS to deliver.

Timeline

- 144. As above, the existing annual Ofgem monitoring would remain in place and continue to be reported annually over the lifetime of the reformed policy. The Official Statistics mentioned in paragraph 134 would be collected and also published annually over the policy's lifetime.
- 145. The process evaluation timeline is subject to final method and contract, but BEIS expects fieldwork to commence soon after delivery commences, and will require the final evaluation report by December 2024, so that findings can be integrated into further interactions of scheme delivery design in a timely way. This timeline will be finalised prior to scheme launch.

12. Annex

Annex 1: Regression model

Government is proposing to use VOA data (property age, type and floor area) and a regression model trained on EHS data to predict households' energy costs. DWP data on means-tested benefits recipients and HMRC tax credits data (with an income threshold) are used as a proxy to identify low-income households. These two data sources would then be matched to identify low-income households with high modelled energy costs and such households automatically receive a rebate if with a participating supplier. The approach taken for the modelling of households' expected energy costs is an Ordinary Least Squares linear regression model. The regression identifies the linear impact of a given variable on the dependent variable – in this case, the impact of a given property characteristic are additive, meaning the overall predicted equivalised energy costs for a given household is the sum of the values attached to the characteristics of their property.

The regression model has been applied to the EHS 2017/18 dataset and predicted the log of equivalised fuel costs. The output statistics show that the regression equation has an adjusted R-squared score of 0.47 and the coefficients are highly significant (most at the 99% confidence interval). Analysis based on an earlier version of the EHS data showed that the regression using the log-transformed fuel costs variable achieves an improved adjusted R-squared value, with an improvement of roughly 5 percentage points. This improvement is carried forward to the policy's fuel poverty targeting, where the model achieves an improved fuel poverty hit-rate of roughly 1 percentage point⁶⁸.

An example of a household's predicted equivalised energy bill is provided for illustrative purposes. In this example, a $90m^2$ semi-detached property built in 1990 is expected to have fuel costs of ~£1,120 per year, Meanwhile, an identical but slightly older property built in 1980 is predicted to have relatively higher fuel costs of ~£1,160 per annum.

Every scheme year the regression model is applied to VOA data and predicts households' equivalised energy costs. Any missing values in the VOA data will, where possible, be estimated using a range of statistical methods. These imputation processes include probabilistic calculations based on neighbouring properties, similar dwellings and, where available, the Energy Performance Certificate⁶⁹. Households receiving a means-tested benefit are identified by DWP and ranked in order of descending energy costs. The 'high cost' threshold line is set by BEIS so that the Core Group 2 budget is spent.

The regression model methodology has been reviewed by University College London (UCL) and the Office of National Statistics (ONS) and was subsequently refined to develop the version used in this Impact Assessment. The Government will continue to develop and refine the regression approach by testing with the latest year of the EHS (when available later this year) and investigating an outstanding recommendation from peer review, which suggested utilising explanatory variables from the Valuation Office Agency data (upon which the regression will be applied during administration).

We welcome views on how our approach and methodology could be developed further.

⁶⁸ Note this was measured under the previous LIHC fuel poverty metric.

⁶⁹ The Annex of the consultation document describes the imputation processes in more detail.

Annex 2: Equity weights

The Warm Home Discount scheme is redistributive, transferring income from all billpayers (those from participating suppliers) to low income and vulnerable households. Equity weighting is founded on the principle that relatively poor households put a greater value on a unit of additional income than relatively rich households.

The equity weighting used below is based on the guidance published in the Green Book.

Equity weight for each decile =
$$\left(\frac{Median \ Income \ of \ total \ population}{Median \ income \ of \ income \ decile}\right)^{1.3}$$

Income decile (where 1 is lowest)	Decile Median of After Housing Costs Income Equivalised (£)	Equity weight
1	6,500	5.28
2	11,700	2.44
3	15,100	1.74
4	18,300	1.36
5	21,600	1.10
6	24,900	0.91
7	29,000	0.75
8	33,900	0.61
9	41,700	0.47
10	61,600	0.28
Where an income decile of 1 is the lowest, and 10 is the highest.		

Table 17: Equity weights used in economic appraisal

Figures based on the English Housing Survey 2017/18

AHC equivalised incomes rounded to nearest £100.

Calculated in line with:

HM Treasury, The Green Book (2020), 'Distributional analysis by income group', Annex A3. Sub-national and Distributional Analysis, Page 97-99. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appraisal-and-evaluation-in-central-governent</u>

Annex 3: Equivalisation factors⁷⁰

The following tables present the equivalisation factors used in the derivation of the English fuel poverty flag. A household's income and fuel cost are divided by the relevant equivalisation factors to reflect the fact that different households have different spending requirements. This creates the final 'Equivalised After Housing Cost (AHC) income'.

Equivalisation factors for fuel costs under the Low Income, Low Energy Efficiency indicator⁷¹

Number of people in household	Equivalisation factor
One	0.82
Two	1.00
Three	1.07
Four	1.21
Five or more	1.32

Equivalisation factors for after housing costs income under the Low Income, Low Energy Efficiency indicator⁷²

Number of people in household	After Housing Costs (AHC) income equivalisation factor
First adult in the household	0.58
Subsequent adults (includes partners and children aged 14 or over)	0.42
Children under 14	0.20

⁷⁰ see <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fuel-poverty-statistics-methodology-handbook</u>

⁷¹ See table 10 of the fuel poverty statistics methodology handbook

⁷² See table 12 of the fuel poverty statistics methodology handbook

Annex 4: Glossary

Average fuel poverty gap	The reduction in fuel bill that the average fuel poor household needs in order to not be classed as fuel poor
Equivalised	Equivalisation is a process that adjusts a household's income or fuel expenditure to take into account the size and composition of the household. This reflects the fact that larger households will require a higher net income to achieve the same economic well- being and standard of living as a household with fewer members.
Fuel poverty	 Low income households who cannot afford to keep their homes warm at reasonable cost. Fuel poverty in England is measured using the Low Income Low Energy Efficiency (LILEE) indicator, which considers a household to be fuel poor if the occupants: have a residual household income below the poverty line (after accounting for energy costs); and live in a home that has an energy efficiency rating below Band C.
Fuel poverty gap	The difference between the fuel cost faced by a fuel poor household and the fuel cost it would face if it wasn't high cost.
FPEER	Fuel poverty energy efficiency rating
LIHC	Low income High cost (fuel poverty metric prior to February 2021).
LILEE	Low income low energy efficiency (current fuel poverty metric).
SAP	Standard Assessment Procedure ⁷³
Warm Home Discount	An energy bill rebate applied to a household's gas or electricity bill

⁷³ <u>https://www.bregroup.com/sap/standard-assessment-procedure-sap-2012/</u> 55